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Micro-X Limited 
Directors' report 
For the year ended 30 June 2025 
 

 
The directors present their report, together with the financial statements, on the consolidated entity (referred to hereafter as 
the 'Group') consisting of Micro-X Limited (referred to hereafter as Micro-X, the 'Company' or 'parent entity') and the entities 
it controlled at the end of, or during, the year ended 30 June 2025. 

Directors 
The names of the Directors in office at any time during or since the end of the year are: 
 
Patrick O'Brien (Non-Executive Chair) - Appointed Chair 15 January 2025 
James McDowell (Non-Executive Director) 
Ilona Meyer (Non-Executive Director) 
Andrew Hartmann (Non-Executive Director)  
Alexander Gosling (Non-Executive Director) - Resigned 12 November 2024 
David Knox (Non-Executive Chair) - Resigned 15 January 2025 
 
 
Directors have been in office since the start of the Financial Year to the date of this report unless otherwise stated. 

Principal activities 
Micro-X's principal activities are the design, development, manufacturing and commercialisation of imaging products for the 
global healthcare and security markets utilising Micro-X’s proprietary cold cathode X-ray technology. 
  
No significant changes in the nature of these activities occurred during the year. 

Dividends 
There were no dividends paid, recommended or declared during the current or previous Financial Year. 

Operating and Financial Review 
Micro-X Limited and its wholly owned subsidiaries continued to focus its activities in the financial year ended 30 June 2025 
(Financial Year) on the design and development, manufacturing and sale of carbon nanotube-based X-ray products, including 
core X-ray tube and high-voltage generator components, for the global healthcare, defence and security markets.  
 
The Company announced a strategy reset in January 2025 to focus on its commercial and development stage medical imaging 
products for global healthcare markets, including the Rover Plus mobile X-ray, the Head CT for mobile stroke diagnosis and 
the Full Body CT for mobile CT scanning applications. As part of the strategy reset, the Company announced it had 
discontinued the Argus X-ray camera product for the security market and is seeking strategic partnerships to commercialise 
its broader security applications, including those in development. The discontinuation of Argus resulted in $0.7M per annum 
in estimated cost savings, after one-off costs. 
 
This Micro-X strategy to focus on medical imaging made positive progress as the Company executed a supply agreement for 
Rover Plus systems with a major US healthcare services provider (Customer) in July 2025. This supply agreement resulted 
from extensive work demonstrating the unit at multiple sites for this Customer over a two-stage trial and evaluation period 
during the Financial Year. This Customer operates a nationwide network of more than 700 healthcare facilities in the United 
States, including hospitals, surgical centres, and outpatient facilities, and is one of the largest and most established healthcare 
organisations in the United States. This represents a significant commercial achievement for Micro-X, marking its first supply 
agreement with a major US healthcare provider. 
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Micro-X Limited
Directors' report
For the year ended 30 June 2025

Review of Financials
During the Financial Year, the Group experienced decreased revenues from ordinary activities of $13.053M (down from 
$15.222M in the financial year ended 30 June 2024 (FY24)) from the sale of its products and contracted project income, and 
total incomes of $18.644M (FY24: $21.962M), comprised of the following: 

Revenues for the sale of Mobile DR products and associated components of $2.590M, down from $6.410M in FY24 
which included $3.0M worth of government contract sales for Ukraine humanitarian relief and Australian Military 
procurement; 
Contracted project income of $10.463M (up from $8.812M in FY24) in line with the increased focus on partnering activities 
and reducing unfunded development). This income included: 
- $4.570M revenue from U.S. Department of Homeland Security for the Airport Checkpoint Development program; 
- $3.192M revenue from the Advanced Research Projects Agency for Health for development (ARPA-H) of the full body 
CT executed in December 2024; 
- $1.899M revenue from Billion Prima for the commercialisation partnership agreement; and 
- $0.620M revenue from the Australian Stroke Alliance for development of the Head CT Scanner; 
Other income of $5.591M, including $5.430M in relation to the R&D tax rebate for the Financial Year. 

In addition to its contracted project income, the Group invoiced, received and processed approximately $1.895M on behalf of 
its sub-contractors as agent for these sub-contractors. Accordingly, this balance has been applied against the Company’s 
expenses rather than the Company’s revenues. More information can be found at Note 2 of the Financial Statements.  
  
The Group reported a net loss for the Financial Year, after accounting for income tax, of $13.895M (FY24: $9.765M loss). The 
increase in net loss when compared to the FY24 period was largely driven by reduced product sales and the $1.453M 
impairment of Argus inventory as a result of the discontinuation of the Argus product following the strategic refocus on Medical 
applications in January 2025. 

The key items of expenditure for the Financial Year were related to: 

$2.734M in cost of sale of goods, primarily for Rover Plus units and imaging chains for sale; 
$4.338M expenditure on Research and Development activity related to the Miniaturised CT Baggage Scanner, the 
Checkpoints portal and the Head CT Scanner, which was largely funded by Partner funding; 
$17.252M spent on Employee, Consulting and Director costs. This included $1.167M in non-cash equity compensation 
included within Employee and Director expenses in relation to the Company's Employee Gift Plan and Employee Equity 
Plan, which comprises an STI and LTI component, subject to and conditional on the achievement of hurdles. Employee 
costs included work on development activities for which contracted project income was received during the Financial 
Year.  

Financial Position
Net assets of the Group decreased by $6.713M from $14.261M at 30 June 2024 to $7.548M at 30 June 2025. 
  
Cash on hand and at the bank was $3.242M at 30 June 2025 (compared to $3.228M at 30 June 2024). As reported in the 
June 2025 Appendix 4C & Quarterly Activities Statement, a further $1.936M cash was received in July for receivables 
overdue as at 30 June 2025.  

Moving into the financial year ending 30 June 2026, there is $16.176M of contracted development payments, subject to 
successful achievement of milestones, and associated risks set out below. These will support activities for future products 
including the Head CT, the Full Body CT scanner and the Checkpoints and Baggage Scanner. The Company is also 
seeking to build sales of its Rover Plus, including with the Customer pursuant to the Supply Agreement. In addition to Rover 
Plus sales, there is $4.100M Mobile DR inventory on hand, which, upon achieving the necessary sales would generate 
additional cash as a result of further reducing inventory. The achievement of sales of Rover Plus is subject to the risks 
disclosed further below. 
  
Review of Operations 

Medical Imaging – Rover Plus mobile X-ray system and imaging chains
The Micro-X sales strategy for the Rover plus systems was adjusted during the Financial Year to focus on larger and more 
targeted opportunities for the Rover Plus mobile X-ray unit through a more direct sales outreach. These sales opportunities, 
while larger and usually offering higher margin, have a longer sales cycle. 
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Micro-X Limited
Directors' report
For the year ended 30 June 2025

This sales strategy made positive progress with a number of potential tender opportunities progressed throughout the 
Financial Year. In July 2025, one of these opportunities was closed with the Company executing the Supply Agreement for 
Rover Plus systems with the Customer. This completed a competitive tender process which began in 2024 and included 
extensive work in a two-stage trial and evaluation process, demonstrating the unit at multiple locations operated by the 
Customer during the Financial Year. This Customer operates a nationwide network of more than 700 healthcare facilities in 
the United States, including hospitals, surgical centres, and outpatient facilities, and is one of the largest and most 
established healthcare organisations in the United States. The Supply Agreement, whilst not including any initial orders from 
the Customer on signing, represents a significant commercial achievement for Micro-X, marking its first supply agreement 
with a major US healthcare provider. 

In Europe, market expansion continued with the appointment of Vertec Scientific as a distributor for the United Kingdom who 
placed their first order for Rover Plus units during the Financial Year. Vertec recently presented the Rover Plus system at 
the 2025 UK Imaging & Oncology conference in June, which was attended by approximately 2,000 radiology professionals.  

The Rover Plus continued to gain traction within the sports medicine field, with Major League Baseball team the Houston 
Astros acquiring a Rover Plus system. This brings the total to nine Rover Plus systems sold across eight teams in Major 
League Baseball, with another deployed at the training grounds of the National Hockey League’s Arizona Coyotes. This also 
builds awareness of the key advantages of the Mobile Plus system with the various healthcare agencies that interact with 
these large professional sporting organisations. 

Medical CT development products - Head CT scanner
The Company advanced development work of its Head CT scanner for stroke diagnosis under its $8.0M contract with the 
Australian Stroke Alliance (ASA) in its 'Stroke Golden Hour’ project, led by the Royal Melbourne Hospital's Brain Centre and 
funded by the Federal Government’s Medical Research Future Fund. The focus of the development activities this Financial 
Year was to advance a prototype of the Head CT unit, known as a test bench, to then be validated for the commencement of 
human imaging studies 

A key achievement in the Financial Year was successfully using a Micro-X Head CT test bench to generate the first full three 
dimensional or 3D CT images. The images, which showed the skull and soft tissue structure of the brain of a head phantom 
which mimics a human brain, were reviewed by the ASA which determined that they were of sufficient quality for good 
visualisation of brain anatomy. 

As part of the final development work for Head CT, Micro-X’s engineering team has been refining the CT image 
reconstruction algorithms. The Head CT test bench is now able to deliver the required image resolution to visualise fine 
anatomical structures across the entire skull. 

Three Micro-X Head CT test benches are planned to be delivered to three Australian hospitals in the second half of 2025, to 
commence a human imaging study, following ethics approvals. The data to be collected from this study will be used to 
support application for regulatory approval. 

Micro-X recognised $0.6M revenue in relation to services provided to the ASA for design of the Head CT during the 
Financial Year. 
  
Medical CT development products – Full Body CT scanner
In December 2024, the Company expanded its range of medical CT products in development to include a portable, full body 
CT scanner. This product leverages the advances made by Micro-X in CT imaging for the Head CT scanner, including the 
mini tube and software algorithms. 

In line with the Micro-X strategy of pursuing funded development, this new Full Body CT scanner is being enabled through a 
development contract worth up to $25.0M with ARPA-H. This is a programme initiated by ARPA-H to bring improved 
healthcare, including access to CT imaging, to U.S. patients in rural and remote regions. The technical work being funded 
under the entire contract will result in a working prototype of the Full Body CT scanner, which would then undergo imaging 
studies to support a regulatory application to the U.S. Food and Drug Administration. 

The first stage of work has commenced focused on the design and documentation for a prototype under an initial two year 
$12.5M component of the ARPA-H contract. The Company has successfully achieved the first three milestones under the 
agreement with ARPA-H, most recently completing a comprehensive technical dossier on the Full Body CT.  

The Group recognised $3.2M revenue from ARPA-H in relation to the development of the Full Body CT. 
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Directors' report
For the year ended 30 June 2025

Security - Checkpoints & CT Baggage Scanner
The development work under the two contracts with the U.S. Department of Homeland Security (DHS) advanced well during 
the Financial Year. This resulted in two baggage scanner prototypes and the first Passenger Checkpoints prototype, being 
delivered and commissioned by the DHS, with real world testing ongoing in their U.S. based test laboratories. 

In February 2025, Micro-X received the first optional extension of the DHS contract worth $6.0M. This contract extension is 
the first of two optional extensions of the work by the DHS and will provide funding to continue the Checkpoints project past 
the delivery of the first prototype self-screening unit. Specifically, this will fund the creation of two additional units, allowing 
the DHS to perform and accelerate its testing with a three-unit pod.  

In March 2025, the team delivered the first Passenger Checkpoints prototype to the DHS to allow testing in the Transport 
Security Administration (TSA) specialist labs. As the prime contractor, Micro-X has successfully integrated its Baggage CT 
Scanner, along with Voxel Radar’s millimetre wave body scanning technology and deep learning models for multi-source CT 
imaging developed with Johns Hopkins University. Advanced airport security design was also provided by Monash 
University’s Design Health Collab. 
  
Across all work in Checkpoints for the Financial Year, the Group recognised $4.6M in revenues from services provided to 
the DHS.  
  
Partnership Activities
Following the strategy reset announced in January 2025, Micro-X has been pursuing opportunities to monetise its security 
technology. This process has had strong engagement from multiple parties, however further work is required to secure a 
suitable partner opportunity to take the Checkpoints solution to market. 

In February 2025, Micro-X formed a new strategic partnership with Malaysian security product manufacturer Billion Prima to 
develop and commercialise a baggage and parcel scanner product over the following 12 months that includes the 
Company’s NEX Technology. The $5.6M partnership provides Micro-X with the ability to generate long term revenues from 
the sale of Micro-X tubes and high voltage generators to Billion Prima once the baggage scanner product is commercialised. 

The Billion Prima partnership included an equity investment in Micro-X of $2.4M at a price of 9 cents per share, then a 15% 
premium to the prevailing market price, aimed to achieve alignment with existing Micro-X shareholders. The equity 
component was completed in February 2025. The Development and Commercialisation Agreement includes product 
development milestone payments from Billion Prima totalling $3.2M, with the first two milestones, totalling $1.9M, being 
achieved during the Financial Year. The technical teams from Billion Prima and Micro-X have held multiple meetings at 
Tonsley during the Financial Year to complete the project roadmap and the mechanical design work.  

During the Financial Year, Micro-X successfully completed the technology transfer to Varex Imaging, the largest OEM 
manufacturer of X-ray tubes globally, under its technology transfer development agreement to develop multi-beam 
tubes. The Company is continuing to work with Varex Imaging to customise its Micro-X high-powered generator to power 
their tubes. 
  
Corporate Activities
In February and March 2025, the Company undertook a capital raising to strengthen the balance sheet and drive planned 
partnering and commercialisation activities. 

This capital raising of approximately $6.4M included the following components: 

$2.4M - Strategic Placement of 26.6m shares at 9 cents to Billion Prima; 
$2.0M - Placement of 28.6m shares at 7 cents to sophisticated and institutional investors, which included $0.2M to the 
directors of the Company as approved by shareholders on 16 April 2025; 
$1.3M - Institutional Entitlement Offer of 19.2m shares at 7 cents, on a 1 for 10 basis, to eligible institutional shareholders 
and shortfall institutional investors; and  
$0.6M - Retail Entitlement Offer of 8.8m shares at 7 cents, on a 1 for 10 basis, to eligible retail shareholders. 
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Environment, Social and Corporate Governance
This Financial Year, Micro-X began developing a Sustainability Strategy as its first step towards monitoring and reporting the 
Group’s activities and impact across the three fundamentals of Environment, People and Governance. It is intended that 
annual reporting will take place in tandem with Micro-X’s annual financial reporting. 

Micro-X’s Sustainability Strategy references existing sustainability frameworks, including the UN Sustainable Development 
Goals, the Paris Agreement, the Global Reporting Initiative, the Australian Accounting Standards Board’s Australian 
Sustainability Reporting Standards (AASB S1; AASB S2), and International Sustainability Standards Board (IFRS S1; IFRS 
S2). 

While not currently required to report under Australian sustainability laws and regulations, Micro-X has elected to voluntarily 
report against sustainability-related risks and opportunities that could reasonably be expected to affect its cash flows, access 
to finance, or cost of capital, starting from 1 July 2026. These disclosures are designed to enable users of general-purpose 
financial reports to understand Micro-X’s strategy for managing climate-related risks and opportunities, its commitment to 
positively contributing to staff and society, and our strong governance arrangements. 

Governance
Micro-X has governance programmes, policies and procedures across its activities, as overseen by the Audit and Risk 
Committee of the Board of Directors. During the Financial Year, the Company appointed Richard Willson as Company 
Secretary, with Kingsley Hall resigning as Company Secretary at the time. Richard is a seasoned Company Secretary, Non-
Executive Director, and CFO with over 25 years of experience spanning both private and publicly listed companies.  
  
Micro-X is certified to ISO 13485 and ISO 9001 standards and undergoes regular annual surveillance audits to ensure ongoing 
compliance. 
  
Micro-X has a range of measures in place to ensure its technology and programmes which are used in defence and security 
applications remain compliant and are protected from access, theft or destruction by unauthorised persons. Security 
clearances are maintained by a number of personnel including those involved in development work for the DHS 
programmes. IT auditing and cyber security measures are in place and were actively managed during the Financial Year. 
  
Material Business Risks
The Company has a risk management policy to identify, monitor and report on areas of risk on an ongoing basis. Details of 
this policy can be found on the investor governance section of the Company’s website. The Company’s Audit & Risk 
Committee is responsible for managing risks and this policy. 

The material risks detailed below may affect the future strategy, operating and financial performance of Micro-X. The material 
risks are not set out in any particular order, and there may be additional risks and uncertainties that Micro-X is unaware of, or 
that it currently considers to be immaterial. The occurrence or consequences of some of the risks described in this section are 
partially or completely outside the control of Micro-X, its directors and senior management. This section focuses on the 
potential key risks and does not purport to list every risk that Micro-X may have now or in the future. 

Risk  Description

Difficulties encountered with early 
commercialisation of new 
technology 

  
There are a number of risks associated with the early commercialisation of new 
technology, including an inherent risk of failure, and the possibility that the products 
developed by the Company may fail to demonstrate material customer benefit or 
advancement, be difficult or impossible to manufacture on the necessary scale, be 
uneconomical to market or otherwise not commercially exploitable, or fail to achieve 
the support of the targeted industry. The Company’s target markets can often have 
high regulatory barriers, particularly for medical devices, and some markets are 
conservative, which may delay or prohibit sales into those markets. 

Clinical and product development 
  

The Company’s Head CT scanner and Full Body CT scanner are at a variety of 
commercial, development and clinical stages. In order to achieve regulatory 
clearances clinical studies using varied patient populations, data types, and sample 
sizes will be necessary. Commercial sales of these products may also be impacted by 
the ability to differentiate the clinical benefits as compared to competitor products.  
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Risk  Description

An inability to gain or maintain regulatory clearances in key markets could severely 
impact the Company’s ability to commercialise one or both of these products. 

Competition risk, including larger 
and better resourced competitors 

  
There can be no assurance that other parties will not develop and commercialise 
technology or intellectual property that compete with, or substitute, the Company’s 
cold cathode carbon nanotube (CNT) based X-ray technology in either the security or 
the healthcare markets. 

Project funding risk 
  

The Company currently has future products in development, including the 
Checkpoints, Head CT and Full Body CT products, which are funded by external third-
party development contracts. Additionally, the Company is developing a baggage 
scanner with Billion Prima. These products are currently funded via development 
contracts through to the provision of prototypes, with ongoing and future funding 
dependent on the Company achieving certain milestones. There is a risk that if the 
Company fails to achieve the required milestones or is in breach of its contractual 
obligations, that the funding could be withdrawn or delayed, resulting in the Company 
needing to obtain additional funding to complete the project. 

Risk to Checkpoints monetisation 
strategy 

  
The Company intends to fund its strategic shift to focus on medical imaging products 
through the monetisation of some or all of its security assets, including the 
Checkpoints and Baggage Scanner products. There is a risk that the Company is 
unable to execute such a contract, or that such a contract does not provide sufficient 
capital to fund all of the commercialisation of its medical imaging products, and the 
Company needs to seek alternate funding methods to execute its business strategy. 

Sales, marketing & distribution 
  

The Company has a pipeline of commercial sales opportunities to supply its products 
in Australia and the United States.  These opportunities are in various different stages 
of maturity comprising near term opportunities such as the supply of backlog orders, 
new contracts without confirmed orders, opportunities which are moving to close, 
opportunities where there is active customer engagement and opportunities which are 
active proposals. The Company relies on its ability to convert these opportunities into 
sales and then revenue. There is no guarantee that the Company will be successful in 
converting these opportunities into revenue either at all or on acceptable terms or 
within commercial timeframes. There is also no guarantee that counterparties will 
make orders for products under relevant agreements. If these opportunities are not 
converted into revenue, this may have an adverse effect on the cashflow and financial 
performance and position of the Company. 

The Company currently sells its Rover Plus Mobile DR product directly to customers, 
and via distribution channels. There is a risk that the Company will be unable to 
continue to develop sufficient sales and marketing capabilities, despite its planned 
expansion and investment, to effectively commercialise its products. While significant 
opportunity for growth of Rover Plus exists with a major US Hospital Group; there is a 
risk that this opportunity does not develop into material sales growth. 

Core Technology - CNT X-ray 
tubes & high-voltage generators 

  
The Company’s future product and commercial plans are underpinned by its unique 
Carbon Nanotube (CNT) based X-ray technology, which includes both Carbon 
Nanotube X-ray tubes and solid-state high-voltage generators. Whilst Micro-X has 
invested heavily in maturing this technology over more than 10 years, the technology 
is the first of its type and as such, there is a risk that the Company experiences 
unforeseen challenges in the performance, reliability, cost-effectiveness, 
manufacturability, scalability or other factors.  
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Risk  Description

These challenges may cause field issues, damage to brand and reputation, operating 
cost overruns, challenges with ability to scale and meet market demand for product, 
project cost overruns and/or project timing delays, or other factors that may have a 
material impact on the Company’s ability to effectively execute its business strategy. 

Partnering risk 
  

The Company's strategy is to secure partners for its Checkpoints and products, 
including its security technology. The Company is seeking to engage partners to 
provide market access, scale up and implementation services to commercialise 
products in development. There is no guarantee that the Company will be able to 
secure partners on satisfactory terms. In the event that partners are not secured there 
may be a material adverse impact on the Company's ability to commercialise its 
products in development.  

International trade and foreign 
exchange risk - including United 
States policy 

  
The Company operates in a global market and its business operations are subject to 
trade agreements. Changes to international trade agreements, including free trade 
agreements, may have an impact on the commercial viability and supply of 
components for the manufacture of the Company’s products and the sale of those 
products to its customers. 

A material portion of the Company’s business is with companies operating in the 
United States, or via United States Government-funded contracts. Changes to trade 
conditions such as the introduction of tariffs, or changes to policy impacting funded 
contracts, could introduce an adverse risk to the Company’s commercialisation and 
funding activities. 

The Company buys components and sells products in multiple foreign currencies. 
Changes in foreign exchange, particularly AUD to USD, may adversely impact the 
commercial viability of the Company’s products. 

Micro-X’s US footprint through its subsidiary, Micro-X Inc., presents additional risk for 
the Company. As part of its expansion, the Company may be subject to additional 
employment, tax, regulatory, and compliance requirements. The Company is subject 
to managing foreign currency risk through the larger overhead cost carried out in USD. 
The Company is exposed to policy change, political risk and any trading restrictions 
with the United States.

Current capital reserves and ability 
to raise additional capital 

  
There is no guarantee that the Company will achieve cashflow breakeven or 
profitability. Accordingly, the Company may from time to time, require additional capital 
to continue to operate and deliver on its proposed commercial strategies. In the 
absence of such additional financing, there is a risk that (i) the Company may not be 
able to continue to operate beyond the next 12 months; and (ii) there may be a delay 
and indefinite postponement of the Company’s activities and potential development 
programs. There can be no assurance that additional financing will be available when 
needed. If additional financing is available, the terms of the financing may not be 
favourable to the Company and may involve substantial dilution to Shareholders. The 
occurrence of any of these events could have a material adverse effect on the 
Company's financial performance and financial position. 

Intellectual property loss or 
infringement 

  
The Company’s core business is as a technology company and its technology assets 
are reliant on the protection and enforcement of its intellectual property (IP) rights. The 
company has an active IP strategy to identify and protect novel IP. Whilst the 
Company takes care in ensuring that submitted trademarks, patents, copyrights and 
other IP do not breach prior or existing intellectual property of other parties, there is a 
risk that such lodged IP may not be approved or may be challenged by third party 
companies.  
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Significant changes in the state of affairs 
There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group during the Financial Year. 

Matters subsequent to the end of the Financial Year 
No matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2025 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect the Group's 
operations, the results of those operations, or the Group's state of affairs in future financial years. 

Likely developments and expected results of operations 
The Group’s main focus moving forward will be the continued commercialisation of its technology platform, notably: 

Sale of Mobile DR units through high value tender and group purchasing opportunities and other targeted markets; 
Delivery of final prototypes and formal completion of the Miniaturised Baggage CT Scanner contract and development 
progress under the extended contract with the DHS including delivery of the first Checkpoint prototypes;  
Delivery of the Head CT Scanner prototypes for mobile stroke imaging under the ASA contract; 
Development of the Full Body CT under the ARPA-H contract to deliver a lightweight and portable CT scanner; and 
Identification and execution of strategic partnerships delivering market access and funding.  

Environmental regulation 
The Group is not subject to any significant environmental regulation under Australian Commonwealth or State law. 

Risk  Description

Disputes may also arise over third-party IP claims, and any failure to secure or 
maintain adequate patent protection, or freedom to operate, could limit the ability to 
develop and commercialise our products and technology. Competitors may exploit any 
gaps in the Company’s IP portfolio to launch similar or identical offerings. Additionally, 
maintaining IP protection requires ongoing compliance with regulatory procedures, 
filings, and fees; failure to meet these obligations could result in reduced or lost 
protection. 

Cyber security risk and data 
privacy 

  
The Company’s Rover Plus, Head CT and Full Body CT products all access and 
maintain confidential patient medical records and healthcare system information. The 
Company recognises the risks associated with cyber security breaches and the 
potential impact on operations and has policies and procedures in place to address 
system security and data risks. Security breaches, data loss, leak of confidential 
patient records or system disruptions could compromise sensitive business or patient 
information, hinder access to critical data, and expose the Company to legal and 
financial liabilities, potentially damaging our operations and reputation, and resulting in 
a loss of customers or regulatory approvals. 

Ability to attract and retain key 
personnel 

  
A critical component of the Company’s success is the retention of key personnel, 
specifically members of the management and product development teams. There is a 
risk that the Company may not be able to attract and retain key personnel or be able to 
find effective replacements for key personnel in a timely manner. The Company relies 
on the technological expertise of its employees to maintain and develop intellectual 
property, hence the loss of key personnel may lead to a loss of operational knowledge, 
technology capabilities, key partners and customer relationships. 

Litigation, disputes, and claims 
  

The Company may be subject to litigation and other disputes and claims in the 
ordinary course of its business, including infringement of intellectual property, 
employment disputes, contractual disputes, indemnity claims, occupational health and 
safety claims, or criminal or civil proceedings. Such litigation, disputes, and claims, 
including the cost of settling claims or paying any fines, operational impacts and 
reputational damage could materially adversely affect the Company’s business, 
operating and financial performance. 
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Information on directors 
Name: Patrick O’Brien 
Title: Non-Executive Chair 
Qualifications: LLB, B.Com, Grad Dip Applied Finance, MBA, GAICD 
Experience and expertise: Patrick is Managing Director of Patrick O’Brien & Associates, Chairman of GCQ Funds 

Management and CE Bartlett, and a Director of The Water & Carbon Group Holdings. He 
was previously a non-executive director of Red Rock Leisure (1999-2020) and Chairman 
of the Paywise Group (2019-2023) having led a management buyout through to a 
successful divestment. He has also chaired or been a board member of a number of early 
stage ventures, not-for-profit organisations and philanthropic foundations. Patrick has over 
35 years’ business experience in Australia, the UK, Europe, Asia and the US, including as 
a Senior Managing Director with Macquarie Group where he led teams in corporate finance 
(Melbourne 1996-2005) and private equity (London 2005-2009). In this latter role Patrick 
was responsible for Macquarie’s controlling stakes in, and chaired, large unlisted groups 
European Directories and National Grid Wireless. Prior to Macquarie, Patrick was a 
strategy consultant with McKinsey & Company and a lawyer with Minter Ellison. 

Other current directorships: Nil 
Former directorships (last 3 
years): 

Nil 

Special responsibilities: Chair of Board, Audit and Risk Committee and People and Remuneration Committee 
Interests in shares: 10,287,591 fully paid ordinary shares 
Interests in options: 526,316 
Interests in rights: Nil 

Name: James McDowell 
Title:  Non-Executive Director 
Qualifications: LL.B (Hons) D.Univ (honoris causa) 
Experience and expertise: Jim is Former Deputy Secretary, Naval Shipbuilding and Sustainment - Australian 

Department of Defence and prior to this role was Chief Executive of Nova Systems.  Jim 
has more than 40 years of experience in international defence and aerospace sectors and 
has lived and worked in the UK, the USA, Korea, Singapore, Hong Kong and Australia. 
Jim joined BAE Systems in 1996 and his last executive appointment with the Group was 
as Chief Executive Officer of their A$5 billion annual turnover business operations in Saudi 
Arabia. Prior to this he was Chief Executive Officer of BAE Systems Australia for 10 years. 
Based in Adelaide, he drove a major expansion program as the Group grew to become 
Australia’s largest defence business. Prior to his time at BAE Systems Jim worked for 18 
years at aerospace Group Bombardier Shorts in legal, commercial and marketing 
positions, making a major contribution to that Group’s growth into the USA. Jim is also a 
Director of ASX-listed company Metal Powder Works. 
In 2014, Jim was appointed by the Australian Federal Government to the team to conduct 
the First Principles Review of the Australian Department of Defence. The Team’s ‘One 
Defence’ recommendations included transformational changes to structure, governance 
arrangements, accountabilities, processes and systems of Defence. From 2018 to 2020 
Jim was Chief Executive of South Australia's Department of Premier and Cabinet. 

Other current directorships: Metal Powder Works Limited (ASX:MPW) – June 2025 to current 
Former directorships (last 3 
years): 

Nil 

Special responsibilities: Audit and Risk Committee and People and Remuneration Committee 
Interests in shares: 1,594,466 fully paid ordinary shares 
Interests in options: 78,947 
Interests in rights: Nil 
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Name: Ilona Meyer 
Title: Non-Executive Director 
Qualifications: LLB and LLM (QUT), GradDipLegPrac (ANU), GIA (Cert), GAICD, AMIIA 
Experience and expertise: Ilona has over 25 years' experience as a senior executive in healthcare, agriculture and 

emerging technologies focusing on innovation and growth. Ilona is General Counsel and 
Company Secretary for Nuix Limited and prior to this role has held multiple executive roles 
with private and public companies, including ASX-listed companies and high-growth start-
ups, leading business transformation initiatives, managing multiple stakeholders, 
influencing industry bodies, as well as navigating high profile litigation and regulatory 
disputes. Prior to commencing her current role at Nuix, Ilona was General Counsel and 
Head of Legal & Compliance of the Boehringer Ingelheim Group for the Australian and New 
Zealand division.  She has previously held senior legal and compliance roles at ResMed 
Limited, Ruralco Holdings Limited, Medtronic and 3M Australia. 

Other current directorships: Nil 
Former directorships (last 3 
years): 

Nil 

Special responsibilities: Chair of Audit and Risk Committee 
Interests in shares: 589,043 fully paid ordinary shares 
Interests in options: 52,631 
Interests in rights: 127,877 

Name: Andrew Hartmann 
Title: Non-Executive Director 
Qualifications: Master of Business Administration and qualifications in Accounting and Electrical 

Engineering 
Experience and expertise: Andrew is the Senior Vice President and GM Imaging Solutions at Varex Imaging 

Corporation and has worked overseas and in global senior roles for more than 30 years.  
Andrew has significant business expertise in the field of medical imaging devices with 
extensive experience working in global roles with a focus on sales, marketing and business 
operations.  Over his career he has been responsible for building brand, market share and 
bottom-line gains through cost saving and efficiency improvements. Andrew has held senior 
global management roles at Phillips, Carestream and Siemens, after working in Australia 
that included building brands across the Asia Pacific region, the United States and Europe.

Other current directorships: Nil 
Former directorships (last 3 
years): 

Nil 

Special responsibilities: Nil 
Interests in shares: 357,143 
Interests in rights: Nil 

Former directors 

Name: David Knox 
Title: Non-Executive Chair (resigned 15 January 2025) 
Qualifications: BSc (Hons) Mechanical Engineering. MBA, FIE Aust, FTSE, GAICD 
Experience and expertise: David is a highly experienced and respected business leader with senior leadership, 

engineering and public markets expertise gained in multi-national, domestic and 
Commonwealth companies. During his tenure, he served on the Audit and Risk Committee 
and People and Remuneration Committee. David stepped down as Chair during the year. 

Other former directorships (last 3 
years): 

Redflow Ltd (ASX:RFX) - March 2017 to February 2023. 

Interests in shares: 1,468,211 per Final Director’s Interest Notice 
Interests in options: 105,263 per Final Director’s Interest Notice 
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Name: Dr. Alexander Gosling AM 
Title: Non-Executive Director (resigned 12 November 2024) 
Qualifications: MA (Hons), DEng, MAICD, FTSE 
Experience and expertise: Alexander has been working in the field of process and product development and related 

research and development for 50 years and currently works in technology 
commercialisation, advising universities, mentoring start-ups and sitting on the Boards of 
early-stage companies. Alexander stepped down as Director during the year. 

Other former directorships (last 3 
years): 

Nil 

Interests in shares: 795,308 per Final Director’s Interest Notice 
Interests in options: 131,578 per Final Director’s Interest Notice 

'Other current directorships' quoted above are current directorships for listed entities only and excludes directorships of all 
other types of entities, unless otherwise stated. 

'Former directorships (last 3 years)' quoted above are directorships held in the last 3 years for listed entities only and excludes 
directorships of all other types of entities, unless otherwise stated. 

Company secretary 
Richard Willson is a seasoned Company Secretary, Non-Executive Director, and CFO with over 25 years’ experience spanning 
both private and publicly listed companies, predominantly working across the technology and resources sectors, including 
more than 18 years acting as a Company Secretary for ASX listed companies. Based in Adelaide, Richard is currently 
Company Secretary and Non-Executive Director of a number of ASX-listed companies. Kingsley Hall previously held the 
Company Secretary role until Richard Willson’s appointment on 30 May 2025. 

Meetings of directors 
The number of meetings of the Company's Board of Directors ('the Board') and of each Board committee held during the year 
ended 30 June 2025, and the number of meetings attended by each director were: 

Full Board
People and Remuneration 

Committee* Audit and Risk Committee
Attended Held Attended Held Attended Held

Patrick O'Brien 12 12 - - 7 7
Alexander Gosling 3 4 1 1 - -
David Knox 5 5 1 1 4 4
James McDowell 11 12 1 1 1 1
Ilona Meyer 12 12 - - 7 7
Andrew Hartmann 12 12 - - - -

Held: represents the number of meetings held during the time the director held office or was a member of the relevant 
committee. 

* Following reduction in Directors from six to four, it was resolved to fulfil People & Remuneration obligations as part of 
Board meetings. 

Remuneration report (audited) 
The remuneration report details the key management personnel remuneration arrangements for the Group, in accordance 
with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and its Regulations. 

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the 
activities of the entity, directly or indirectly, including all directors. 

The remuneration report is set out under the following main headings: 
Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration 
Details of remuneration 
Service agreements 
Share-based compensation 
Additional disclosures relating to key management personnel 
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Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration 
The objective of the Group's executive reward framework is to ensure reward for performance is competitive and appropriate 
for the results delivered. The framework aligns executive reward with the achievement of strategic objectives and the creation 
of value for shareholders, and it is considered to conform to the market best practice for the delivery of reward. The Board of 
Directors ('the Board') aims to ensure that executive reward satisfies the following key criteria for good reward governance 
practices: 

Competitiveness to attract, motivate and retain key talent; 
Performance linkage and alignment of executive compensation and corporate objectives; 
Transparency and reasonableness; and 
Alignment to, and acceptability by, shareholders. 

The Group has a People and Remuneration Committee which is responsible for determining and reviewing remuneration 
arrangements for directors, executives and all staff. The performance of the Group depends on the quality of its directors and 
executives. The remuneration philosophy is to attract, motivate and retain high performance and high-quality personnel and 
accordingly the People and Remuneration Committee has structured an executive remuneration framework that is market 
competitive and complementary to the reward strategy of the Company. 

The remuneration framework which has been adopted, is designed to align executive reward to shareholders' interests by: 
Having commercial focus as a core component of plan design; 
Focusing on sustained growth in shareholder wealth, consisting of growth in share price, and delivering constant or 
increasing return on assets as well as focusing the executive on key non-financial drivers of value; and 
Attracting and retaining high calibre executives. 

Additionally, the remuneration framework should seek to align and incentivise executives' interests by: 
Rewarding capability and experience; 
Reflecting competitive reward for contribution to growth in shareholder wealth; and 
Providing a clear structure for earning rewards. 

In accordance with best practice corporate governance, the structure of non-executive director and executive director 
remuneration is separate. 

Non-executive director remuneration 
Fees and payments to non-executive Directors reflect the demands and responsibilities of their role. Non-executive directors' 
fees and payments are reviewed annually by the People and Remuneration Committee. The People and Remuneration 
Committee may, from time to time, receive advice from independent remuneration consultants to ensure non-executive 
directors' fees and payments are appropriate and in line with the market. The Chair's fees are determined independently to 
the fees of other non-executive directors based on comparative roles in the external market. The Chair is not present at any 
discussions relating to the determination of his own remuneration.  

ASX listing rules require the aggregate maximum non-executive directors' remuneration be determined periodically by a 
general meeting. The most recent determination was at the Annual General Meeting held 19 November 2021, where the 
shareholders approved the Company’s aggregate maximum non-executive directors’ remuneration of $700,000 per annum. 

Executive remuneration 
The Company aims to reward executives based on their responsibility and performance, with a level and mix of remuneration 
which has both fixed and variable components. 

The executive remuneration and reward framework has four components: 
Base pay and non-monetary benefits; 
Short-term share-based performance incentives, or STI; 
Long-term share-based performance incentives, or LTI; and 
Other remuneration such as superannuation, annual and long service leave. 

The combination of these comprises the executive's total remuneration. 

Fixed remuneration, consisting of base salary, superannuation and non-monetary benefits, is reviewed annually by the People 
and Remuneration Committee based on individual and Company performance, the overall performance of the Group and 
comparable market remunerations. 
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Executives may receive their fixed remuneration in the form of cash or other fringe benefits (for example motor vehicle benefits) 
where it does not create any additional costs to the Group and provides additional value to the executive. 

Shareholders re-approved at the November 2023 AGM the Micro-X Limited Employee Equity Plan, the key objectives of which 
are to: 

assist in the attraction and retention of high-quality employees; 
link the reward of key employees with the achievement of strategic goals and the long-term performance of the Company; 
and 
align the financial interest of all participants of the Plan with those of Shareholders. 

Executives may be invited to participate in the Company’s Employee Equity Plan, where performance rights may be earned 
subject to the achievement of short-term objectives (Short-Term Incentives or STI) and/or subject to the achievement of longer-
term objectives (Long-Term Incentives or LTI). 

Company performance and link to remuneration 
Remuneration of key management personnel is currently directly linked to the performance of the Company via the STI and 
LTI awards available to Executives invited to participate in the Employee Equity Plan. 

Short Term Incentives

STI award achievement is assessed on a Balanced Scorecard approach, where Executive performance is measured against 
four key criteria, with weighting attached to each of criteria’s outcomes. For the year ended 30 June 2025 the four criteria 
against which Executive performance was assessed were: 

Criteria % of Total STI
Commercial Activities 35%
Financial Performance 25%
Project and Development Activities 25%
Quality and Safety, Culture and Compliance 15%

100%

Long Term Incentives
There are two types of LTI awards made: 

LTI Service Rights; and 
LTI Performance Rights. 

LTI Service Rights vest after three years of continuous service with the Company from the date of the grant.   
  
LTI Performance Rights vest upon the achievement of certain Total Shareholder Return (TSR) targets over a three-year 
vesting period. The relevant TSR target is a 10% Compound Annual Growth Rate, for the LTI performance rights to vest at 
50%. If the TSR result met is a 20% Compound Annual Growth Rate then participants will be issued 100% of the relevant 
performance rights.  
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Details of remuneration 

Amounts of remuneration 
Details of the remuneration of key management personnel of the Group are set out in the following tables. 

The key management personnel of the Company consisted of the following directors and management of the Group: 
Patrick O'Brien (Non-Executive Chair) - Appointed Chair 15 January 2025 
James McDowell (Non-Executive Director) 
Ilona Meyer (Non-Executive Director)  
Andrew Hartmann (Non-Executive Director)  
Kingsley Hall (Chief Executive Officer) 
Anthony Skeats (Chief Operating Officer) 
Brian Gonzales (CEO Americas & Chief Scientific Officer) 
David Knox (Non-Executive Chair) - Resigned 15 January 2025 
Alexander Gosling (Non-Executive Director) - Resigned 12 November 2024 

Short-term benefits

Post-
employment 

benefits
Long-term 
benefits1

Share-
based 

payments -
Rights2

        
Cash 
salary Non- Super- Annual and Equity-

and fees monetary2 annuation

Long 
Service 
leave settled Total

2025 $ $ $ $ $ $

Non-Executive Directors: 
P O'Brien 54,905 - - - - 54,905
J McDowell 54,905 - - - - 54,905
I Meyer 49,242 - 5,663 - 2,592 57,497
A Hartmann3 - - - - - -
D Knox 4 37,879 - 4,356 - - 42,235
A Gosling4 24,621 - 2,831 - - 27,452

Chief Executive Officer: 
K Hall 367,210 - 31,979 2,244 168,013 569,446

Other Key Management Personnel: 
B Gonzales5 343,512 - 13,740 13,451 158,343 529,046
A Skeats 332,500 - 27,500 17,513 157,550 535,063

1,264,774 - 86,069 33,208 486,498 1,870,549

1 Movement in provisions, does not have cash implication. 
2 The share-based payments above relate to the amortisation of the fair value of the grant of rights made to the KMP 

during the year and do not necessarily reflect the cash value that may be realised upon vesting and exercising of the 
rights.  

3 Mr Hartmann was appointed to the Board on 15 December 2022 as a representative of Varex Imaging Corporation. 
As part of the agreement, Mr Hartmann is not paid a fee.  

4 Mr Knox and Mr Gosling resigned as Non-Executive Directors during Financial Year 2025 
5 Mr Gonzales is employed by Micro-X Inc the Company’s wholly owned US subsidiary and is based in Seattle. 

Remuneration and compulsory benefits have been translated from U.S. dollars to Australian dollars for the purpose of 
this Remuneration Report.  
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Subsequent to year end, the Board reviewed the achievement of the Executives' Short-Term Incentive for the year ended 30 
June 2025 and determined that the Short-Term Incentive should be awarded at 45%.  

Long-Term Performance Rights achievement has been assumed at 50%, consistent with target, however the 2021 Long-Term 
Performance rights which were assessed in November 2024 were cancelled due to performance criteria not being met. 
  
Long-Term Service Rights achievement has been assumed at 100%.  

These levels of achievement are reflected in the share-based payments amortisation in the table above.  

Short-term benefits

Post-
employment 

benefits
Long-term 
benefits1

Share-
based 

payments -
Rights2

        
Cash 
salary Non- Super- Annual and Equity-

and fees monetary3 annuation

Long 
Service 
leave settled Total

2024 $ $ $ $ $ $

Non-Executive Directors: 
D Knox - 90,909 10,000 - 2,538 103,447
A Gosling 59,091 - 6,500 - 1,650 67,241
P O'Brien 65,591 - - - 1,650 67,241
J McDowell 49,193 16,398 - - 1,650 67,241
I Meyer 59,091 - 6,500 - 2,592 68,183
A Hartmann4 - - - - - -
P Rowland 5 38,089 - - - - 38,089

Chief Executive Officer: 
K Hall 370,500 - 27,500 15,777 160,029 573,806

Other Key Management Personnel: 
B Gonzales6 313,988 - 18,943 (3,845) 124,700 453,786
A Skeats 332,500 - 27,500 (3,999) 143,960 499,961

1,288,043 107,307 96,943 7,933 438,769 1,938,995

1 Movement in provisions, does not have cash implication. 
2 The share-based payments above relate to the amortisation of the fair value of the grant of rights made to the KMP 

during the year and do not necessarily reflect the cash value that may be realised upon vesting and exercising of the 
rights. 

3 As approved at the 2022 Annual General Meeting, Mr Knox and Mr McDowell were issued shares in lieu of cash 
Director fees.  

4 Mr Hartmann was appointed to the Board on 15 December 2022 as a representative of Varex Imaging Corporation. 
As part of the agreement, Mr Hartmann is not paid a fee. 

5 Mr Rowland retired as Non-Executive Director on 30 November 2023. 
6 Mr Gonzales is employed by Micro-X Inc the Company’s wholly owned US subsidiary and is based in Seattle. 

Remuneration and compulsory benefits have been translated from U.S. dollars to Australian dollars for the purpose of 
this Remuneration Report. 
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Subsequent to year end, the Board reviewed the achievement of the Executives' Short-Term Incentive for the year ended 30 
June 2024 and determined that the Short-Term Incentive should be awarded at 50%.  

Long-Term Performance Rights achievement has been assumed at 50%, consistent with target, however the third tranche of 
the 2020 Long-Term Performance rights which were assessed in November 2023 were cancelled due to performance criteria 
not being met. 
  
Long-Term Service Rights achievement has been assumed at 100%.  

These levels of achievement are reflected in the share-based payments amortisation in the table above.  

The proportion of remuneration linked to performance and the fixed proportion are as follows: 

Fixed remuneration At risk - STI At risk - LTI
Name 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024

Non-Executive Directors: 
P O'Brien 100% 98% - - - 2% 
J McDowell 100% 98% - - - 2% 
I Meyer 95% 96% - - 5% 4% 
D Knox1 100% 98% - - - 2% 
A Gosling1 100% 98% - - - 2% 

Chief Executive Officer: 
K Hall 73% 71% 12% 13% 15% 16% 

Other Key Management 
Personnel: 
B Gonzales 71% 72% 17% 12% 12% 16% 
A Skeats 72% 71% 16% 12% 12% 17% 

1 D Knox & A Gosling resigned as Non-Executive Directors during the 2025 Financial Year. 
2 Mr Hartmann was appointed to the Board on 15 December 2022 as a representative of Varex Imaging Corporation. 

As part of the agreement, Mr Hartmann is not paid a fee. 

Service agreements 
Remuneration and other terms of employment for key management personnel are formalised in service agreements. Details 
of these agreements are as follows: 

Name: Kingsley Hall 
Title: Chief Executive Officer 
Agreement commenced: 1 May 2023 
Term of agreement: No fixed term. Micro-X or Mr Hall may terminate the employment contract at any time 

provide that either party gives 6 months' notice. 
Details: Annual salary is $398,000 per annum inclusive of employer superannuation 

contributions (subject to annual review). 

Name: Brian Gonzales 
Title: Chief Scientific Officer, CEO of Micro-X Inc. 
Agreement commenced: 1 May 2023 
Term of agreement: No fixed term. Micro-X or Mr Gonzales may terminate the employment contract at any 

time provided that either party gives 6 months' notice. 
Details: Annual salary is US$225,000 per annum plus compulsory benefits (subject to annual 

review). 
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Name: Anthony Skeats 
Title: Chief Operating Officer 
Agreement commenced: 1 May 2023 
Term of agreement: No fixed term. Micro-X or Mr Skeats may terminate the employment contract at any time 

provided that either party gives 2 months' notice. 
Details: Annual salary is $360,000 per annum inclusive of employer superannuation 

contributions (subject to annual review). 

Key management personnel have no entitlement to termination payments in the event of removal for misconduct. 

Share-based compensation 

Issue of securities 
Details of Performance Rights, Shares and Options issued to directors and other key management personnel as part of 
compensation during the year ended 30 June 2025 are set out below: 

Issue of Performance Rights

The following table illustrates the movement of and closing balance of rights held by KMP during the Financial Year:  

Held at 1 
July 2024

Granted as 
Remuneration

Exercised or 
Lapsed

Held at 30 
June 2025

Average Fair 
Value per 

Right at Grant 
Date 

Non-Executive Directors:
P O'Brien 60,186 - (60,186) -
J McDowell 60,186 - (60,186) -
I Meyer 127,877 - - 127,877 $0.081

- - - -
K Hall 6,137,137 3,519,750 (1,013,338) 8,643,549 $0.130
A Skeats 5,637,217 2,992,500 (869,688) 7,760,029 $0.133
B Gonzales 3,295,565 3,073,304 (1,373,893) 4,994,976 $0.081

15,318,168 9,585,554 (3,377,291) 21,526,431

D Knox & A Gosling were not KMPs as at 30 June 2025 reducing the opening balance of rights held. 
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Issue of Performance Rights

The terms and conditions of each performance right affecting remuneration in the current or a future reporting period are as 
follows: 

Grant Date
Vesting and 

exercise date Expiry date
Performance 

Criteria

Value per 
right at grant 

date
Performance 

achieved % Vested

23 December 
2020 

31 August  
2021 

23 December 
2035 

Short term 
performance $0.370  85% of target 85% 

23 December 
2020 

30 November 
2021 

23 December 
2035 

Long term 
performance $0.219  200% of target 100% 

23 December 
2020 

30 November 
2021 

23 December 
2035 

Long term 
service $0.370  100% 100% 

23 December 
2020 

30 November 
2022 

23 December 
2035 

Long term 
service $0.370  100% 100% 

23 December 
2020 

30 November 
2023 

23 December 
2035 

Long term 
service $0.370  100% 100% 

30 September
2021 

31 August 
2022 

30 September
2036 

Short term 
performance $0.330  75% of target 75% 

30 September
2021 

30 September
2024 

30 September
2036 

Long term 
service $0.330  100% 100% 

12 December 
2022 

12 December 
2025 

12 December 
2037 

Long term 
service $0.125  

To be 
determined N/A 

3 January 
2023 

31 August 
2023 

3 January 
2038 

Short term 
performance $0.145  65% of target 65% 

3 January 
2023 

3 January 
2026 

3 January 
2038 

Long term 
performance $0.081  

To be  
determined N/A 

3 January 
2023 

3 January 
2026 

3 January 
2038 

Long term 
performance $0.081  

To be 
determined N/A 

9 January 
2023 

31 August 
2023 

9 January 
2038 

Short term 
performance $0.140  65% of target 65% 

1 November 
2023 

31 October  
2026 

1 November 
2038 

Long term 
performance $0.074  

To be 
determined N/A 

3 January  
2024 

31 August  
2024 

3 January  
2039 

Short term 
performance $0.105  50% of target 50% 

3 January  
2024 

2 January  
2027 

3 January  
2039 

Long term  
service $0.140  

To be  
determined 

N/A 

27 December    
2024 

31 August         
2025 

27 December    
2039 

Short term 
performance $0.080  

45% of target 45% 

27 December    
2024 

26 December    
2027 

27 December    
2039 

Long term 
performance $0.051  

To be 
determined 

N/A 

27 December    
2024 

26 December    
2027 

27 December    
2039 

Long term      
service $0.080  

To be 
determined 

N/A 
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Additional disclosures relating to key management personnel 

Shareholding 
The number of shares in the Company held during the Financial Year by each director and other members of key management 
personnel of the Group, including their personally related parties, is set out below: 

Balance at Received Balance at 
the start of as part of Conversions/ Disposals/ the end of 

the year remuneration Additions other the year
Ordinary shares 
P O'Brien 8,859,020 - 1,428,571 - 10,287,591
J McDowell 880,180 - 714,286 - 1,594,466
I Meyer 210,818 - 378,225 - 589,043
A Hartmann - - 357,143 - 357,143
B Gonzales 1,093,724 - 1,180,075 - 2,273,799
K Hall - - 428,571 - 428,571
A Skeats - - 28,572 - 28,572

11,043,742 - 4,515,443 - 15,559,185

D Knox & A Gosling were not KMPs as at 30 June 2025 reducing the opening balance of rights held. 

Option holding 
The number of options over ordinary shares in the Company held during the financial year by each director and other members 
of key management personnel of the Group, including their personally related parties, is set out below: 

Balance at  Balance 

the start of  
Acquired 

during  the end of  
the year the year Converted the year 

Options over ordinary shares 
P O'Brien 526,316 - - 526,316
J McDowell 78,947 - - 78,947
I Meyer 52,631 - - 52,631

657,894 - - 657,894

This concludes the remuneration report, which has been audited. 

Shares issued on the exercise of options 
There were no ordinary shares of Micro-X Limited issued during the period between 30 June 2025 and up to the date of this 
report on the exercise of rights granted. 

Indemnity and insurance of officers 
The Company has indemnified the directors and executives of the Company for costs incurred, in their capacity as a director 
or executive, for which they may be held personally liable, except where there is a lack of good faith. 

During the Financial Year, the Company paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the directors and executives of the 
Company against a liability to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. The contract of insurance prohibits disclosure 
of the nature of the liability and the amount of the premium. 

Indemnity and insurance of auditor 
The Company has not, during or since the end of the Financial Year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify the auditor of the 
Company or any related entity against a liability incurred by the auditor. 

During the Financial Year, the Company has not paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the auditor of the Company 
or any related entity. 

Proceedings on behalf of the Company 
No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings on behalf 
of the Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility 
on behalf of the Company for all or part of those proceedings. 
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Micro-X Limited
Directors' report
For the year ended 30 June 2025

  

Non-audit services 
Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor for non-audit services provided during the Financial Year by the auditor 
are outlined in note 26 to the financial statements. 

The directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services during the Financial Year, by the auditor (or by another 
person or firm on the auditor's behalf), is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the 
Corporations Act 2001. 

The directors are of the opinion that the services as disclosed in note 26 to the financial statements do not compromise the 
external auditor's independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons: 

all non-audit services have been reviewed and approved to ensure that they do not impact the integrity and objectivity of 
the auditor; and 
none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in APES 110 Code of 
Ethics for Professional Accountants issued by the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board, including 
reviewing or auditing the auditor's own work, acting in a management or decision-making capacity for the Company, 
acting as advocate for the Company or jointly sharing economic risks and rewards. 

Officers of the Company who are former partners BDO Audit Pty Ltd 
There are no officers of the Company who are former partners of BDO Audit Pty Ltd. 

Rounding of amounts 
The Company is of a kind referred to in Corporations Instrument 2016/191, issued by the Australian Securities and Investments 
Commission, relating to 'rounding-off'. Amounts in this report have been rounded off in accordance with that Corporations 
Instrument to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, the nearest dollar. 

Auditor's independence declaration 
A copy of the auditor's independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out 
immediately after this directors' report. 

Auditor 
BDO Audit Pty Ltd continues in office in accordance with section 327B of the Corporation Act 2001.

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of directors, pursuant to section 298(2)(a) of the Corporations Act 2001. 

On behalf of the directors 

  
  
  
___________________________
Patrick O'Brien 
Non-Executive Chair 
  
28 August 2025 
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Micro-X Limited 
Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
For the year ended 30 June 2025 
 

 
    Consolidated 
  Note  2025  2024 
    $'000  $'000 
       
Total Revenue  5  13,053   15,222  
       
Other Income  6  5,591   6,740  
       
Expenses       
Change in inventory/raw materials and consumables    (2,734) (5,777)
Impairment of assets  7  (1,871) -  
Employee and director expenses    (17,252) (16,623)
Selling and distribution expenses    (910) (937)
Office and administrative expenses    (784) (762)
Corporate expenses    (328) (430)
Quality and regulatory expenses    (119) (93)
Project development expenses    (4,338) (3,708)
Depreciation and amortisation expense    (1,570) (1,539)
Other expenses    (2,072) (1,610)
Finance expenses    (561) (248)
Total expenses    (32,539) (31,727)
       
Loss before income tax expense    (13,895) (9,765)
       
Income tax expense  8  -   -  
       
Loss after income tax expense for the year attributable to the owners of Micro-
X Limited 

 
 

 
(13,895)

 
(9,765)

       
Other comprehensive income       
       
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss       
Foreign currency translation    (46) 207  
       
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax    (46) 207  
       
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to the owners of Micro-X 
Limited 

 
 

 
(13,941)

 
(9,558)

       
    Cents  Cents 
       
Basic earnings per share  33  (2.28) (1.85)
Diluted earnings per share  33  (2.28) (1.85)

The above statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes 
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Micro-X Limited 
Statement of financial position 
As at 30 June 2025 
 

 
    Consolidated 
  Note  2025  2024 
    $'000  $'000 
       
Assets       
       
Current assets       
Cash and cash equivalents    3,242   3,228  
Trade and other receivables  9  8,321   7,212  
Contract assets  10  839   2,941  
Inventories  11  4,274   5,379  
Other assets  12  404   1,138  
Total current assets    17,080   19,898  
       
Non-current assets       
Property, plant and equipment  13  1,928   2,924  
Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities  14  3,074   3,953  
Intangibles    24   120  
Total non-current assets    5,026   6,997  
       
Total assets    22,106   26,895  
       
Liabilities       
       
Current liabilities       
Trade and other payables  15  5,715   6,530  
Contract liabilities  16  184   255  
Borrowings  17  3,375   -  
Lease liabilities  14  659   692  
Provisions  18  1,375   1,156  
Total current liabilities    11,308   8,633  
       
Non-current liabilities       
Lease liabilities  14  2,499   3,298  
Provisions  19  751   703  
Total non-current liabilities    3,250   4,001  
       
Total liabilities    14,558   12,634  
       
Net assets    7,548   14,261  

       
Equity       
Issued capital  20  138,350   131,933  
Foreign currency translation reserve  21  175   221  
Convertible notes    65   65  
Share based payments reserve  22  4,428   3,815  
Accumulated losses    (135,470) (121,773)
       
Total equity    7,548   14,261  

 

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



Micro-X Limited 
Statement of changes in equity 
For the year ended 30 June 2025 
 

 

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 

            

Total equity  

 

Issued 
capital 

 
 Share based 

payment 
reserve 

 Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve 

 

Convertible 
notes 

 

Accumulated 
losses 

 

Consolidated  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 
             
Balance at 1 July 2023  125,396  3,852  14  65  (112,134) 17,193 
             
Loss after income tax expense 
for the year 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(9,765)

 
(9,765)

Other comprehensive income for 
the year, net of tax 

 
- 

 
- 

 
207 

 
- 

 
- 

 
207 

             
Total comprehensive income for 
the year 

 
- 

 
- 

 
207 

 
- 

 
(9,765)

 
(9,558)

             
Issue of shares - Placement  4,000  -  -  -  -  4,000 
Issue shares - Share Purchase 
Plan  

 
1,917 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
1,917 

Capital raising costs  (448) -  -  -  -  (448)
Conversion of options attached 
to Share Purchase Plan shares 

 
4 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
4 

             
Transactions with owners in 
their capacity as owners: 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Issue of rights under Employee 
Equity Plan (note 22)   

 
- 

 
990 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
990 

Expiry of rights under Employee 
Equity Plan (note 20)  

 
- 

 
(126)

 
- 

 
- 

 
126 

 
- 

Exercise of rights under 
Employee Equity Plan (note 20) 

 
901 

 
(901)

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

Issue of shares in lieu of Cash 
Payments (note 20) 

 
85 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
85 

Issue of shares under Employee 
Gift Plan (note 20) 

 
78 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
78 

             
Balance at 30 June 2024  131,933  3,815  221  65  (121,773) 14,261 
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Micro-X Limited
Statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 30 June 2025

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 

Total equity
Issued 
capital

Share based 
payment 
reserve

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

Convertible 
notes

Accumulated 
losses

Consolidated $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Balance at 1 July 2024 131,933 3,815 221 65 (121,773) 14,261

Loss after income tax expense 
for the year - - - - (13,895) (13,895)
Other comprehensive income for 
the year, net of tax - - (46) - - (46)

Total comprehensive income for 
the year - - (46) - (13,895) (13,941)

Issue of shares - Placement 6,365 - - - - 6,365
Capital raising costs (305) - - - - (305)

Transactions with owners in 
their capacity as owners: 
Issue of rights under Employee 
Equity Plan (note 22)   - 1,085 - - - 1,085
Expiry of rights under Employee 
Equity Plan (note 20)  - (198) - - 198 -
Exercise of rights under 
Employee Equity Plan (note 20) 274 (274) - - - -
Issue of shares under Employee 
Gift Plan (note 20) 83 - - - - 83

Balance at 30 June 2025 138,350 4,428 175 65 (135,470) 7,548

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



Micro-X Limited 
Statement of cash flows 
For the year ended 30 June 2025 
 

 
    Consolidated 
  Note  2025  2024 
    $'000  $'000 
       

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 

Cash flows from operating activities       
Receipts from customers     2,788   6,990  
Payments to suppliers     (29,583) (27,932)
Interest received    62   41  
R&D incentive tax refunds    6,414   6,232  
Grant funding received    50   432  
Receipts in relation to the ASA MRFF Program    514   1,608  
Receipts in relation to the DHS Checkpoint Program    5,869   4,868  
Receipts in relation to the Varex Technology Transfer    1,469   1,558  
Receipts in relation to ARPA-H    3,193   -  
Receipts in relation to Billion Prima    964   -  
Interest and other finance costs paid    (195) (2)
Lease interest payments    (136) (230)
       
Net cash used in operating activities  32  (8,591) (6,435)
       
Cash flows from investing activities       
Payments for property, plant and equipment    (100) (369)
       
Net cash used in investing activities    (100) (369)
       
Cash flows from financing activities       
Proceeds from issue of shares    6,365   5,921  
Payments for capital raising costs    (355) (396)
Proceeds from borrowings    7,807   -  
Repayment of borrowings    (4,568) -  
Repayment of lease liabilities    (544) (716)
       
Net cash from financing activities    8,705   4,809  
       
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    14   (1,995)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the Financial Year    3,228   5,223  
       
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the Financial Year    3,242   3,228  
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Micro-X Limited 
Notes to the financial statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2025 
 

 
Note 1. General information 
 
The financial statements cover Micro-X Limited as a Group consisting of Micro-X Limited and the entities it controlled at the 
end of, or during, the year. The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is Micro-X Limited's functional 
and presentation currency. 
 
Registered office  Principal place of business 
   
A14, 6 MAB Eastern Promenade  A14, 6 MAB Eastern Promenade 
1284 South Road, Tonsley  1284 South Road, Tonsley 
SA 5042  SA 5042 
 
A description of the nature of the Group's operations and its principal activities are included in the directors' report, which is 
not part of the financial statements. 
 
The financial statements were authorised for issue, in accordance with a resolution of directors, on 28 August 2025.  

Note 2. Material accounting policy information 
 
New or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted 
 
The Group has adopted all of the new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') that are mandatory for the current reporting period.  
 
The adoption of these standards did not result in significant changes to the Group’s accounting policies and had no material 
impact to the Group’s financial statements. 
 
Any new or amended Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been early adopted. 
 
Basis of preparation 
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') and the Corporations Act 2001, as appropriate 
for for-profit oriented entities. These financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Accounting 
Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ('IASB'). 
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Micro-X Limited
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2025

Note 2. Material accounting policy information (continued)

Going Concern
The Group incurred a net loss after tax for the Financial Year ended 30 June 2025 of $13.895M (2024: $9.765M) and had 
net cash outflows from operating activities of $8.591M (2024: $6.435M). The Group had net assets for the Financial Year 
ended 30 June 2025 of $7.458M (2024: $14.261M). 

The directors believe that the Group will be able to continue as a going concern, which contemplates continuity of normal 
business activities and the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities in the ordinary course of business and as a result 
the financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. The accounts have been prepared on the 
assumption that the Group is a going concern for the following reasons: 

The Group has $17.9M of contracted receipts for development work due to be received in FY2026 and FY2027, subject 
to satisfaction of milestones, under the contracts with the Advanced Research Projects Agency for Health for 
development, the Australian Stroke Alliance for the CT Brain scanner, U.S. Department of Homeland Security for the 
Miniature baggage scanner and Checkpoint Portal and Billion Prima;  
The Group expects to continue to build Rover sales and also convert the majority of its Rover inventory to positive 
cashflow with further cash benefit to be realised for reducing inventory holding, in particular as a result of the recently 
signed Supply Agreement with a U.S. major healthcare provider; 
The Group is due to receive an approximate net $2.2M cash inflow in relation to R&D tax incentive in the coming months. 
This incorporates the $5.4M from the ATO less the $3.2M repayment of borrowings secured against receipt; 
The operating loss for the year ended 30 June 2025 included approximately $1.9M in non-recurring expenses in relation 
to the write down of Argus inventory and equipment; 
The Group is actively progressing partnership opportunities to fund and co-fund development, in particular in relation to 
the monetisation of the Checkpoints business, and the Group has a successful track record of securing partnerships; 
and 
The Group is an ASX-listed entity, it has the ability to seek to raise additional funds. 

The Directors are of the opinion that no asset is likely to be realised for an amount less than the amount at which it is recognised 
in the financial report as at 30 June 2025. 

Accordingly, this financial report does not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification of recorded 
asset amounts or to the amounts and classification of liabilities as might be necessary should the Group not continue as a 
going concern. 
  
Notwithstanding the above, there is a material uncertainty related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and, therefore, that it may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its 
liabilities in the normal course of business. 

Revenue and Other Income 
Revenue recognition – Agent versus Principal determination
Micro-X utilises sub-contractors as part of delivering its engineering contract services. For certain sub-contractors, the Group 
has used its judgement to assess its relationship considering the nature of the contractual terms, assess control of the services 
and responsibility of parties involved. Where the Group has determined that it acts an agent for all or part of a contract, the 
Group offsets its contract engineering revenue and relevant project costs. 

The Group recognises revenue as follows:
Sale of goods 
Revenue from sale of goods is recognised at the point in time when control of the asset is transferred to the customer, generally 
when delivery is organised. The normal credit term is 30 days upon delivery. 

Warranty obligations 
The Group typically provides warranties for general repairs of defects that existed at the time of sale, as required by law. 
These assurance-type warranties are accounted for as warranty provisions. 
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Micro-X Limited
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2025

Note 2. Material accounting policy information (continued)

Engineering Contract Services 
The Group recognises revenue from Engineering Contract Services over time.  

For fixed-price contracts, such as with the Australian Stroke Alliance and Billion Prima, revenue is recognised based on the 
actual service provided to the end of the reporting period as a proportion of the total services to be provided. This is determined 
based on the actual labour hours spent relative to the total expected labour hours. The Group uses an input method in 
measuring progress of the consulting services because there is a direct relationship between the Group’s effort (i.e. based on 
the labour hours and project expenses incurred) and the transfer of service to the customer.  

For time and materials contracts, such as the Department of Homeland Security, revenue is recognised based on the actual 
service provided to the end of the reporting period based on the actual hours worked and actual material expenditure incurred 
during the period. 
  
Estimates of revenues, costs or extent of progress toward completion are revised if circumstances change. Any resulting 
increases or decreases in estimated revenues or costs are reflected in profit or loss in the period in which the circumstances 
that give rise to the revision become known by management. 

When payment for services performed is not due until completion of a relevant project milestone, a contract asset is recognised 
over the period in which the services are performed representing the Group's right to consideration for the services performed 
to date.  

Government subsidies and Grants 
Subsidies from the government such as R&D tax incentive rebate, AMGF and MMF Grants are recognised as other income 
at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received, the Company will comply with attached 
conditions and the incentive is readily measurable.  

In relation to R&D, as the estimate is reliably measurable, the R&D tax incentive is measured on an accruals basis. Grant 
funds paid during the year are also being treated on an accruals basis. 

Other revenue 
Other revenue is recognised when it is received or when the right to receive payment is established. 

Trade and other receivables 
Trade receivables are generally due for settlement within 30 days. 

The Group has applied the simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses, which uses a lifetime expected loss 
allowance. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on days overdue. 

Contract assets 
Contract assets are recognised when the Group has transferred goods or services to the customer but where the Group is yet 
to establish an unconditional right to consideration. Contract assets are treated as financial assets for impairment purposes. 

Inventories 
Raw materials, work in progress and finished goods are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value on an average 
cost basis. Cost comprises of direct materials and delivery costs, direct labour, import duties and other taxes, an appropriate 
proportion of variable and fixed overhead expenditure based on normal operating capacity.  

Property, plant and equipment 
Fixed assets (leasehold improvements, plant & equipment, furniture & fittings and computer equipment) are stated at historical 
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. 

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the net cost of each item of property, plant and equipment 
(excluding land) over their expected useful lives as follows: 

Leasehold improvements 10 years 
Plant and equipment 3-7 years 
Fixtures and fittings 3-7 years 
Computer equipment 3-7 years 
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Micro-X Limited
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2025

Note 2. Material accounting policy information (continued)

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful life of the assets, 
whichever is shorter. 

Right-of-use assets 
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful life 
of the asset, whichever is the shorter. Where the Group expects to obtain ownership of the leased asset at the end of the 
lease term, the depreciation is over its estimated useful life.  

The Group has elected not to recognise a right-of-use asset and corresponding lease liability for short-term leases with terms 
of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. 

Trade and other payables  
The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. 

Contract liabilities 
Contract liabilities represent the Group's obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer and are recognised when a 
customer pays consideration, or when the Group recognises a receivable to reflect its unconditional right to consideration 
(whichever is earlier) before the Group has transferred the goods or services to the customer. 

Borrowings and other financial liabilities 
Recognition and recognition 
Financial liabilities are recognised at the fair value of the consideration received, when the Group becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the financial instrument.  
  
A financial liability is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires. 
  
Classification and measurement of financial liabilities 
  
The Group’s financial liabilities include borrowings, trade and other payables and derivative financial instruments. 
  
Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction costs unless the Group 
designated a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss. 
  
Subsequently, financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method except for derivatives 
and financial liabilities designated at FVPL, which are carried subsequently at fair value with gains or losses recognised in 
profit or loss. 
  
The Group has designated its convertible note liabilities at FVPL in order to provide the most relevant information to users, 
and furthermore to keep consistency with initial recognition on inception of these instruments. An assessment will be made at 
each reporting period in regard to underlying valuation of this liability in regard to share price upon conversion of the convertible 
notes. 

Finance costs 
Finance costs attributable to qualifying assets are capitalised as part of the asset. All other finance costs are expensed in the 
period in which they are incurred. 

Employee benefits 

Share-based payments 
Equity-settled share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees. 

Equity-settled transactions are awards of shares, rights, or options over shares, that are provided to employees in exchange 
for the rendering of services.  
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Micro-X Limited
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2025

Note 2. Material accounting policy information (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions are measured at fair value on grant date. Fair value is independently determined using 
a Monte-Carlo pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the impact of dilution, the share 
price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk-free interest 
rate for the term of the option, together with non-vesting conditions that do not determine whether the Company receives the 
services that entitle the employees to receive payment. No account is taken of any other vesting conditions. 

The cost of equity-settled transactions are recognised as an expense with a corresponding increase in equity over the vesting 
period. The cumulative charge to profit or loss is calculated based on the grant date fair value of the award, the best estimate 
of the number of awards that are likely to vest and the expired portion of the vesting period. The amount recognised in profit 
or loss for the period is the cumulative amount calculated at each reporting date less amounts already recognised in previous 
periods 

Market conditions are taken into consideration in determining fair value. Therefore, any awards subject to market conditions 
are considered to vest irrespective of whether or not that market condition has been met, provided all other conditions are 
satisfied. 

If equity-settled awards are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the modification has not been made. An 
additional expense is recognised, over the remaining vesting period, for any modification that increases the total fair value of 
the share-based compensation benefit as at the date of modification. 

If the non-vesting condition is within the control of the Group or employee, the failure to satisfy the condition is treated as a 
cancellation. If the condition is not within the control of the Group or employee and is not satisfied during the vesting period, 
any remaining expense for the award is recognised over the remaining vesting period, unless the award is forfeited. 

If equity-settled awards are cancelled, it is treated as if it has vested on the date of cancellation, and any remaining expense 
is recognised immediately. If a new replacement award is substituted for the cancelled award, the cancelled and new award 
is treated as if they were a modification. 

Foreign Currency Translation 
Functional and presentation currency: 
The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is Micro-X Ltd's functional and presentation currency. 

Rounding of amounts 
The Company is of a kind referred to in Corporations Instrument 2016/191, issued by the Australian Securities and Investments 
Commission, relating to 'rounding-off'. Amounts in this report have been rounded off in accordance with that Corporations 
Instrument to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, the nearest dollar. 

Note 3. Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually evaluates its judgements and estimates in relation 
to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses. Management bases its judgements, estimates and 
assumptions on historical experience and on other various factors, including expectations of future events, management 
believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. The resulting accounting judgements and estimates will seldom equal the 
related actual results. The judgements, estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment 
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities (refer to the respective notes) within the next Financial Year are discussed 
below. 

Share-based payment transactions (Note 22) 
The Company measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the equity 
instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by using the Monte-Carlo model considering 
the terms and conditions upon which the instruments were granted. The accounting estimates and assumptions relating to 
equity-settled share-based payments would have no impact on the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
annual reporting period but may impact profit or loss and equity. 
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Micro-X Limited
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2025

Note 3. Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued)

Estimation of useful lives of assets 
The Group determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation and amortisation charges for its property, plant and 
equipment and finite life intangible assets. The useful lives could change significantly as a result of technical innovations or 
some other event. The depreciation and amortisation charge will increase where the useful lives are less than previously 
estimated lives, or technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold will be written off or written 
down. 

Lease term 
The lease term is a significant component in the measurement of both the right-of-use asset and lease liability. Judgement is 
exercised in determining whether there is reasonable certainty that an option to extend the lease or purchase the underlying 
asset will be exercised, or an option to terminate the lease will not be exercised, when ascertaining the periods to be included 
in the lease term. In determining the lease term, all facts and circumstances that create an economical incentive to exercise 
an extension option, or not to exercise a termination option, are considered at the lease commencement date. Factors 
considered may include the importance of the asset to the Group's operations; comparison of terms and conditions to 
prevailing market rates; incurrence of significant penalties; existence of significant leasehold improvements; and the costs and 
disruption to replace the asset. The Group reassesses whether it is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, or not 
exercise a termination option, if there is a significant event or significant change in circumstances. 

Research and development (R&D) tax incentive 
The Group is entitled to claim R&D tax incentives in Australia. The R&D tax incentive is calculated using the estimated R&D 
expenditure multiplied by a 43.5% refundable tax offset. The Group accounts for this incentive as other income within the 
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income. 

Note 4. Operating segments 

The Group has operations in Australia and the United States (Micro-X Inc) and the UK (Micro-X UK Operation Limited). 

The Executive Management Committee is the Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM) and monitors the operating results of 
its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment. 
Segment performance is evaluated based on profit or loss and is measured consistently with profit or loss in the consolidated 
financial statements.  

Operating segment information
For management purposes, the Group has been split into geographical segments. Due to limited activity, Micro-X UK 
Operations Limited has been aggregated into the Parent Company.

Micro-X 
Limited 

Australia 
$'000

Micro-X Inc
United States

$'000 Total

Revenue 
Sales to external customers 4,212 8,841 13,053
Other revenue 5,591 - 5,591
Total revenue 9,803 8,841 18,644

Expenses 
Depreciation and amortisation (1,327) (243) (1,570)
Finance costs (525) (36) (561)
Other expenses (22,987) (7,421) (30,408)
Total expenses (24,839) (7,700) (32,539)

Profit/ (Loss) before income tax expense (15,036) 1,141 (13,895)
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Micro-X Limited
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2025

Note 4. Operating segments (continued)

Micro-X 
Limited 

Australia 
$'000

Micro-X Inc
United States

$'000 Total

Total assets 17,774 4,332 22,106
Total liabilities (11,733) (2,825) (14,558)

Net assets 6,041 1,507 7,548

Major customers

During the Financial Year ended 30 June 2025 approximately $4.6M being 44% of engineering contract services (2024: $4.2M 
being 48%) was derived from services to the U.S Department of Homeland Security (DHS). An additional $3.2M being 31% 
from engineering contract services was derived from an agreement in August 2024 with The Advanced Research Projects 
Agency for Health (ARPA-H) to develop a full body CT scanner.  An additional $1.9M being 18% from engineering contract 
services was derived from an agreement in February 2025 with Billion Prima for design, development, testing and validation 
of the BP MBS.  

A further $0.6M being 11% of engineering contract services (2024: $1M being 11%) relates to services to the Australian Stroke 
Alliance (ASA).  

Note 5. Revenue 

Consolidated
2025 2024
$'000 $'000

Sale of Goods 2,590 6,410 
Engineering contract services 10,463 8,812 

Revenue 13,053 15,222 
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Micro-X Limited
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2025

Note 5. Revenue (continued)

Disaggregation of revenue 
The disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers is as follows: 

Consolidated
2025 2024
$'000 $'000

Major product lines 
Micro-X Rover 1,561 5,346 
DRX Revolution Nano  -  743 
Spare Parts 302 321 
Engineering Contract Services 10,463 8,812 
Micro-X Argus 246 -
Mirco-X Imaging Chains 481 -

13,053 15,222 

Geographical regions 
United States 9,040 9,463 
Asia-Pacific 2,979 4,324 
Europe & EMEA  1,034 1,435 

13,053 15,222 

Timing of revenue recognition 
Goods transferred at a point in time 2,590 6,410 
Services transferred over time 10,463 8,812 

13,053 15,222 

Note 6. Other Income 

Consolidated
2025 2024
$'000 $'000

Interest Received 62 40 
Research & Development Tax Incentive Refund 5,430 6,373 
Net (Loss)/Gain on Disposal of Asset -  (7)
Other Government Grants 99 334 

5,591 6,740 

Note 7. Impairment of assets 

Consolidated
2025 2024
$'000 $'000

Impairment of assets
Argus inventory write off 1,453 -
Argus demo units write off 418 -

1,871 -

On 31 January 2025, the Group announced the discontinuation of Argus. As at 30 June 2025 the Group has created a provision 
to write down approximately $1.5M of Argus related inventory and $0.4M of Argus demonstration units. 
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Micro-X Limited
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2025

Note 8. Income tax 

Consolidated
2025 2024
$'000 $'000

Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense and tax at the statutory rate 
Loss before income tax expense (13,895) (9,765)

Tax at the statutory tax rate of 25% (3,474) (2,441)

Tax effect amounts which are not deductible/(taxable) in calculating taxable income: 
Share-based payments 292 267 
R&D tax incentive income (1,358) (1,594)
Feedstock adjustment 118 29 
R&D expenditure 3,098 3,327 
Other-assessable income -  111 

(1,324) (301)
Current year tax losses not recognised 795 505 
Current year temporary differences not recognised 529 (204)

Income tax expense -  -  

The Group has tax losses that arose of $42.0M (2024: $37.7M) that are available indefinitely for offsetting against future 
taxable profits of the companies in which the tax losses arose.  

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses as the Group has been loss-making for some time, 
and there is no evidence of recoverability in the near future.  

Note 9. Current assets - trade and other receivables 

Consolidated
2025 2024
$'000 $'000

Trade receivables 2,870 781 
R&D tax incentive receivable 5,390 6,373 
Other receivables 20 20 

8,280 7,174 

GST receivable 41 38 

8,321 7,212 

Note 10. Current assets - contract assets 

Consolidated
2025 2024
$'000 $'000

Contract assets 839 2,941 
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Micro-X Limited
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2025

Note 11. Current assets - inventories 

Consolidated
2025 2024
$'000 $'000

Raw materials 5,153 5,212 

Less: Provision for impairment (1,453) -  

Finished goods - US 348 167 
Finished goods - Australia 226 -  

574 167 

4,274 5,379 

On 31 January 2025, the Group announced the discontinuation of Argus. As at 30 June 2025 the provision for impairment 
reflects the reduction of recoverable value for Argus-related inventory. 

Note 12. Current assets - Other assets 

Consolidated
2025 2024
$'000 $'000

Prepayments and deposits 404 1,138 

Note 13. Non-current assets - property, plant and equipment 

Consolidated
2025 2024
$'000 $'000

Leasehold improvements - at cost 1,777 1,765 
Less: Accumulated depreciation (1,104) (912)

673 853 

Plant and equipment - at cost 3,640 3,915 
Less: Accumulated depreciation (2,613) (2,169)

1,027 1,746 

Fixtures and fittings - at cost 253 252 
Less: Accumulated depreciation (168) (137)

85 115 

Computer equipment - at cost 708 685 
Less: Accumulated depreciation (565) (481)

143 204 

Work in progress - at cost -  6 

Total property, plant and equipment 1,928 2,924 
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Micro-X Limited
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2025

Note 13. Non-current assets - property, plant and equipment (continued)

Reconciliations 
Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous Financial Year are set out 
below: 

Leasehold 
improvements

Plant & 
equipment

Fixtures & 
fittings

Computer 
Equipment

Work in 
Progress Total

Consolidated $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Balance at 1 July 2023 1,034 1,394 127 253 306 3,114
Additions/Exchange rate 
movements 8 491 20 50 58 627
Transfers in/(out) - 358 - - (358) -
Disposals - - - (9) - (9)
Depreciation expense (189) (497) (32) (90) - (808)

Balance at 30 June 2024 853 1,746 115 204 6 2,924
Additions/Exchange rate 
movements 11 218 - 22 - 251
Transfers in/(out) - 6 - - (6) -
Write off of assets - (428) - - - (428)
Depreciation expense (191) (515) (30) (83) - (819)

Balance at 30 June 2025 673 1,027 85 143 - 1,928

On 31 January 2025, the Group announced the discontinuation of Argus. As at 30 June 2025 the Group has written down 
approximately $0.4M of Argus demonstration units which were previously capitalised as plant & equipment. 

Note 14. Non-current assets - Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities 

The Group leases land and buildings for its offices and production facilities under agreements of between 5 to 10 years with, 
in some cases, options to extend. The leases have various escalation clauses. On renewal, the terms of the leases are 
renegotiated. The Group also leases machinery under agreements of between 1 to 5 years. 

Consolidated
2025 2024
$'000 $'000

Right-of-use 6,304 6,577 
Less: Accumulated depreciation (3,230) (2,624)

3,074 3,953 

Consolidated
2025 2024
$'000 $'000

As at 1 July 2024 3,953 4,615 
Modification to Lease Agreement (150) -  
Additions/Exchange rate movements 5 68 
Depreciation (734) (730)

As at 30 June 2025 3,074 3,953 
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Micro-X Limited
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2025

Note 14. Non-current assets - Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities (continued)

During the year, a lease adjustment was recognised following a review of lease calculations. This resulted in a reduction to 
the ROU asset and lease liability, with corresponding adjustments to depreciation 

Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities (disclosed as current and non-current lease liabilities) and the 
movements during the period:  

Consolidated
2025 2024
$'000 $'000

As at 1 July 2024 3,990 4,703
Additions/Exchange rate movements 6 2
Modification of lease terms (150) -
Accrual of interest 187 231
Payments (875) (946)
As at 30 June 2025 3,158 3,990

Current 659 692
Non-Current  2,499 3,298

3,158 3,990

During the year, a lease adjustment was recognised following a review of lease calculations. This resulted in a reduction to 
the ROU asset and lease liability, with corresponding adjustments to depreciation 

Factors considered in determining the life of lease liabilities is discussed at note 3. 

The following are the amounts recognised in profit & loss: 

Consolidated Consolidated
2025 2024
$'000 $'000

Depreciation expense - Right-of-use assets 734 730
Interest expense - lease liability 187 230

921 960

Note 15. Current liabilities - trade and other payables 

Consolidated
2025 2024
$'000 $'000

Trade payables 3,278 2,545 
Other payables and accrued expenses 2,437 3,985 

5,715 6,530 
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Government Grant funding in advance (AMGF & MMF) 184 255 

Reconciliation of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and 
previous Financial Year are set out below: 

Opening balance 255 855 
Transfer to revenue (71) (600)

Closing balance 184 255 

The aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to the performance obligations that are unsatisfied at the end of the 
reporting period was $14,738,000 as at 30 June 2025 ($11,992,000 as at 30 June 2024) and is expected to be recognised as 
revenue in future periods as follows: 

Within 6 months 5,891 4,018 
6 to 12 months 4,874 2,594 
12 to 18 months 3,973 4,237 
18 to 24 months -  1,043 
Over 24 months -  100 

14,738 11,992 

The forecast revenues above have been adjusted for the impact of the Agency principle which is detailed in note 2. 

As at 1 July 2024 - -
Proceeds from FY24 R&D tax incentive loan 4,570 -  
Interest accrued and paid in relation to FY24 Loan 196 -
Repayment of FY24 R&D tax incentive loan and interest (4,766) -
Proceeds from FY25 R&D tax incentive loan 3,239 -
Accrual of interest 136 -

3,375 -  

The Company borrowed $4.6M which was secured against the receipt of the FY24 R&D tax incentive refund which was repaid 
in December 2024. Since then, the Company has borrowed $3.2M which is secured against the receipt of the FY25 R&D tax 
incentive refund. The short-term R&D loan has been drawn down in two tranches with interest rates between 15% - 16% and 
is due for repayment on receipt of the FY25 R&D tax incentive refund or 31 December 2025, whichever is earlier.  
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Micro-X Limited
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2025

Note 18. Current liabilities - provisions 

Consolidated
2025 2024
$'000 $'000

Employee entitlements  1,375 1,156 

Note 19. Non-current liabilities - provisions 

Consolidated
2025 2024
$'000 $'000

Long service leave 188 122 
Lease make good 505 505 
Warranties 58 76 

751 703 

Lease make good 
The provision represents the present value of the estimated costs to make good the premises leased by the Group at the end 
of the respective lease terms. 

Warranties 
The provision represents the estimated warranty claims in respect of products sold which are still under warranty at the 
reporting date. The provision is estimated based on historical warranty claim information, sales levels and any recent trends 
that may suggest future claims could differ from historical amounts. 

Movements in provisions 
Movements in each class of provision during the current Financial Year, other than employee benefits, are set out below: 

Lease make 
good Warranties

Consolidated - 2025 $'000 $'000

Carrying amount at the start of the year 505 76
Additional provisions recognised - 79
Amounts used - (45)
Unused amounts reversed - (52)

Carrying amount at the end of the year 505 58

Note 20. Equity - Issued capital 

Consolidated
2025 2024 2025 2024

Shares Shares $'000 $'000

Ordinary shares - fully paid 667,202,252 581,603,759 138,350 131,933 
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Micro-X Limited
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2025

Note 20. Equity - Issued capital (continued)

Movements in ordinary share capital 

Details Date Shares Issue price $'000

Balance 1 July 2023 514,365,432 125,396
Issue of Shares in lieu of cash payments for Directors 
Fees 7 July 2023 475,494 $0.115 54
Exercise of Rights under Employee Equity Plan 7 July 2023 1,010,982 $0.370 374
Exercise of Rights under Employee Equity Plan 7 July 2023 380,518 $0.330 126
Exercise of Rights under Employee Equity Plan 7 July 2023 192,568 $0.219 42
Exercise of Rights under Employee Equity Plan 6 Oct 2023 1,038,905 $0.145 151
Exercise of Rights under Employee Equity Plan 6 Oct 2023 33,785 $0.330 11
Exercise of Rights under Employee Equity Plan 6 Oct 2023 9,357 $0.370 3
Issue of shares under Employee Gift Plan 1 Nov 2023 557,076 $0.140 78
Exercise of Rights under Employee Equity Plan 18 Jan 2024 660,629 $0.140 93
Exercise of Rights under Employee Equity Plan 18 Jan 2024 95,626 $0.370 35
Issue of Shares - Placement 22 Apr 2024 41,052,631 $0.095 3,900
Capital Raising Costs 22 Apr 2024 - $0.000 (448)
Issue of Shares - Placement 30 May 2024 1,052,632 $0.095 100
Issue Shares - Share Purchase Plan 30 May 2024 20,184,088 $0.095 1,917
Exercise of Rights under Employee Equity Plan 26 Jun 2024 163,962 $0.370 61
Exercise of Rights under Employee Equity Plan 26 Jun 2024 34,149 $0.145 5
Exercise of Options under Share Purchase Plan 28 Jun 2024 26,315 $0.135 4
Issue of Shares in lieu of cash payments for Directors 
Fees 28 Jun 2024 269,610 $0.120 31

Balance 30 June 2023 581,603,759 131,933
Exercise of Rights under Employee Equity Plan 20 Dec 2024 195,704 $0.330 64
Exercise of Rights under Employee Equity Plan 20 Dec 2024 83,116 $0.370 31
Exercise of Rights under Employee Equity Plan 20 Dec 2024 187,164 $0.105 20
Exercise of Rights under Employee Equity Plan 20 Dec 2024 89,024 $0.145 13
Issue of shares under Employee Equity Plan 31 Dec 2024 988,032 $0.084 83
Exercise of Rights under Employee Equity Plan 6 Jan 2025 188,895 $0.330 62
Exercise of Rights under Employee Equity Plan 6 Jan 2025 384,299 $0.105 41
Issue of Shares - Placement 18 Feb 2025 44,950,106 $0.070 3,147
Capital Raising Costs 18 Feb 2025 - $0.000 (305)
Issue of Shares - Strategic Placement 5 Mar 2025 26,666,667 $0.090 2,400
Issue of Shares - Entitlement Offer 20 Mar 2025 8,836,524 $0.070 618
Issue of Shares - Placement 7 May 2025 2,857,143 $0.070 200
Exercise of Rights under Employee Equity Plan 15 May 2025 97,634 $0.330 32
Exercise of Rights under Employee Equity Plan 15 May 2025 74,185 $0.145 11

Balance 30 June 2025 667,202,252 138,350

Ordinary shares 
Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on the winding up of the Company in proportion 
to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. The fully paid ordinary shares have no par value and the Company 
does not have a limited amount of authorised capital. 

On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each share 
shall have one vote. 

Capital risk management 
The Group's objectives when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can provide 
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimum capital structure to reduce the cost 
of capital. 
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Micro-X Limited
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2025

Note 21. Equity - Foreign currency translation reserve 

Consolidated
2025 2024
$'000 $'000

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations 175 221 

Note 22. Equity - Share based payments reserve 

Consolidated
2025 2024
$'000 $'000

Share-based payments reserve 4,428 3,815 

Micro-X issued service rights to all staff and service rights and performance rights, inclusive of short-term incentives (STI) and 
long-term incentives (LTI) to Leadership and a subset of other staff under its Employee Equity Plan on 27 December 2024. 
The rights hold various service and performance conditions which will be assessed and potentially vest for the respective 
holders on 31 August 2025 (short term performance incentives) and 26 December 2027 (long term performance and service 
incentives). 

The following assumptions have been used: 

Valuation Inputs & Conclusions 

Description STI Performance 
Rights

LTI Service  
Rights

LTI Performance 
Rights

Valuation Date 27 Dec 2024 27 Dec 2024 27 Dec 2024
Number of instruments issued 8,838,077 9,930,240 7,082,425
Spot Price 0.08 0.08 0.08
Exercise Price Nil Nil Nil
Life (Years) 1 3 3
Volatility* N/A N/A 80%
Dividend Yield 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Risk Free Rate N/A N/A 3.9
Assessed Value 0.08 0.08 0.051

*Based on historical volatility of Micro-X shares and comparable companies.  

Set out below are the movements of rights held by Non-Executive Directors and Key Management Personnel during the 
Financial Year. 

Held at 1 July 
2024

Granted as 
Remuneration

Exercised or 
Expired

Held at 30 June 
2025

Average Fair 
Value per Right 
at Grant Date

Rights issued under 
Employee Equity Plan 

15,318,168 9,585,554 (3,377,291) 21,526,431 $0.120

D Knox & A Gosling were not KMPs as at 30 June 2025 hence decreasing the opening balance of rights held. 

The following table illustrates the number and weighted average fair value (WAFV) at grant date of, and movement in, rights 
held by all participants during the Financial Year: 
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Micro-X Limited
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2025

Note 22. Equity - Share based payments reserve (continued)

2025 2025 2024 2024
Number WAFV Number WAFV

Outstanding at 1 July  37,333,550 $0.159 30,584,965 $0.202 
Granted during the Financial Year 25,850,742 $0.072 18,699,413 $0.109 
Exercised during the Financial Year (1,300,021) $0.210 (3,620,481) $0.250 
Expired during the Financial year (7,634,611) $0.149 (8,330,347) $0.166 
Outstanding at 30 June  54,249,660 $0.118 37,333,550 $0.159 

The potential number of shares on conversion of performance rights is 54,249,660 which is made up of 10,889,228 vested 
performance rights on which all relevant performance criteria have been met and 43,360,432 unvested rights upon which 
require further performance criteria to be met before they become convertible.  

Share-based payments reserve
The reserve is used to recognise the value of equity benefits provided to employees and the directors as part of their 
remuneration, and other parties as part of their compensation for services. 

Movements in reserves 
Movements in each class of reserve during the current and previous Financial Year are set out below: 

Share-based 
payment 
reserve Total

Consolidated $'000 $'000

Balance at 1 July 2023 3,852 3,852
Share rights expense1 864 864
Share right equity movement2 (901) (901)

Balance at 30 June 2024 3,815 3,815
Share rights expense1 1,085 1,085
Share right equity movement2 (472) (472)

Balance at 30 June 2025 4,428 4,428

1 Employee Equity Plan - amortisation expense of rights granted 
2 Value of rights/ options transferred to retained earnings on exercise or when lapsed due to expiry.  

Note 23. Equity - dividends 

There were no dividends paid, recommended or declared during the current or previous Financial Year. 

Note 24. Financial instruments 

Financial risk management objectives 
The Company's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity 
risk. The Company's overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to 
minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Company.  The Company uses different methods to 
measure different types of risk to which it is exposed. These methods include sensitivity analysis in the case of interest rate 
and other price risks and ageing analysis for credit risk. 

Risk management is carried out by senior finance executives ('Finance') under policies approved by the Board of Directors 
('the Board'). These policies include identification and analysis of the risk exposure of the Group and appropriate procedures, 
controls and risk limits. Finance identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks within the Group's operating units. Finance 
reports to the Board on a monthly basis. 
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Micro-X Limited
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2025

Note 24. Financial instruments (continued)

Unless otherwise stated, there have been no changes from the previous reporting period in the Company's exposures to risks 
related to financial instruments, or how those risks arise. 

Market risk 
Foreign currency risk 
Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities are denominated in 
a currency that is not the Company’s functional currency. The Company operates internationally and is exposed to foreign 
exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with respect to the United States Dollar (USD). 

Price risk 
The Group is not exposed to any significant price risk. 

Interest rate risk 
The Company’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the company’s cash deposits with 
floating interest rates. These financial assets with variable rates expose the Company to interest rate risk.  

All other financial assets and liabilities in the form of receivables and payables are non-interest bearing. The Company does 
not engage in any hedging or derivative transactions to manage interest rate risk.   

In regard to its interest rate risk, the Company continuously analyses its exposure. Within this analysis consideration is given 
to potential renewals of existing positions, alternative investments and the mix of fixed and variable interest rates.    

At the balance date the Company had the following financial assets and liabilities exposed to Australian variable interest rate 
risk that are not designated in cash flow hedges:  

Cash at bank of $3.2M (2024: $3.2M). The sensitivity of the cash at bank balance to changes in interest rate (of +/-1%) equates 
to +/-$32,000 (2024: +/-$32,000). The sensitivity of 1% is based on reasonable, possible changes, over a Financial Year, 
using the observed range of actual historical short-term deposit rate movements and management's expectation of future 
movements. 

Credit risk 
The Group has adopted a lifetime expected loss allowance in estimating expected credit losses to trade receivables through 
the use of a provisions matrix using fixed rates of credit loss provisioning. These provisions are considered representative 
across all customers of the Group based on recent sales experience, historical collection rates and forward-looking information 
that is available. 

Generally, trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators of this include the 
failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan, no active enforcement activity and a failure to make contractual payments 
for a period greater than 1 year. 

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents and outstanding trade and other receivables.  

The cash balances are held in financial institutions with high ratings and the trade and other receivables relate to amounts 
receivable from a substantial trade debtor with a strong credit standing. 

The Company has assessed that there is minimal risk that the cash and trade and other receivables balances are impaired.  

Liquidity risk 
Vigilant liquidity risk management requires the Group to maintain sufficient liquid assets (mainly cash and cash equivalents) 
and available borrowing facilities to be able to pay debts as and when they become due and payable. 

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves and available borrowing facilities by continuously 
monitoring actual and forecast cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. 

Trade payables are generally payable on 30-day terms. 
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Micro-X Limited
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2025

Note 24. Financial instruments (continued)

Remaining contractual maturities 
The following tables detail the Group's remaining contractual maturity for its financial instrument liabilities. The tables have 
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the financial 
liabilities are required to be paid. The tables include both interest and principal cash flows disclosed as remaining contractual 
maturities and therefore these totals may differ from their carrying amount in the statement of financial position. 

Weighted 
average 

interest rate 1 year or less
Between 1 
and 2 years

Between 2 
and 5 years Over 5 years

Remaining 
contractual 
maturities

Consolidated - 2025 % $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Non-derivatives
Non-interest bearing 
Trade payables - 3,278 - - - 3,278

Interest-bearing - fixed rate 
Lease liability - 659 530 1,969 - 3,158
R&D advance Tranche 1 16.00% 1,520 - - - 1,520
R&D advance Tranche 2 15.00% 1,719 - - - 1,719
Total non-derivatives 7,176 530 1,969 - 9,675

Weighted 
average 

interest rate 1 year or less
Between 1 
and 2 years

Between 2 
and 5 years Over 5 years

Remaining 
contractual 
maturities

Consolidated - 2024 % $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Non-derivatives
Non-interest bearing 
Trade payables - 2,545 - - - 2,545

Interest-bearing - fixed rate 
Lease liability 5.00% 692 643 1,741 914 3,990
Total non-derivatives 3,237 643 1,741 914 6,535

The cash flows in the maturity analysis above are not expected to occur significantly earlier than contractually disclosed above. 

Fair value of financial instruments 
Unless otherwise stated, the carrying amounts of financial instruments reflect their fair value. 

Note 25. Key management personnel disclosures 

Compensation 
The aggregate compensation made to directors and other members of key management personnel of the Company is set out 
below: 

Consolidated
2025 2024

$ $

Short-term employee benefits 1,264,774 1,395,350 
Post-employment benefits 119,277 104,876 
Share-based payments 486,498 438,769 

1,870,549 1,938,995 
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Consistent with the prior year. Key Management Personnel were granted rights under the Employee Equity Plan on 27 
December 2024. 

The share-based payments above relate to the amortisation of the fair value of the grant of rights made to the KMP during the 
year and do not necessarily reflect the cash value that may be realised upon vesting and exercising of the rights. 

During the Financial Year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by BDO, the auditor of the Company: 

Audit services
BDO - audit or review of the financial statements 109,137 98,430

Other services - BDO 
Tax and Transfer Pricing 20,128 27,850
R&D Tax Incentive 33,755 20,555
Other - 15,688

53,883 64,093

163,020 162,523

The Company has no contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2025. 

Subsidiaries 
Interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 30. 

Key management personnel 
Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note 25 and the remuneration report included in the directors' 
report. 

Transactions with related parties 
Details and terms and conditions of other transactions with KMP and their related parties: 

During the Financial Year, purchases totalling $63,500 at market prices have been made by the Company for marketing 
services provided by companies of which Anthony Skeat's wife is a director. 

Receivable from and payable to related parties 
Noted as at reporting date, a $54,905 payable to Patrick O'Brien is included within trade payables for director fees invoiced at 
30 June 2025. 

There were no other trade receivables from or trade payables to related parties at the current and previous reporting date. 

Loans to/from related parties 
There were no loans to or from related parties at the current and previous reporting date. 
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Micro-X Limited
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2025

Note 29. Parent entity information 

Set out below is the supplementary information about the parent entity. 

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 

Parent
2025 2024
$'000 $'000

Loss after income tax (15,014) (8,497)

Total comprehensive income (15,014) (8,497)

Statement of financial position

Parent
2025 2024
$'000 $'000

Total current assets 14,845 18,419

Total assets 19,622 24,955

Total current liabilities 6,957 4,776

Total liabilities 7,715 5,486

Equity 
      Issued capital 138,318 131,933
      Foreign currency translation reserve 451 228
     Convertible notes 65 65
     Share-based payments reserve 4,461 3,815
     Accumulated losses (131,387) (116,572)

11,908 19,469

Guarantees entered into by the parent entity in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries
The parent entity had no guarantees in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries as at 2025. 

Contingent liabilities 
The parent entity has no contingent liabilities as at 2025.  

Capital commitments - Property, plant and equipment
The parent entity has no capital commitments for property, plant and equipment as at 2025. 

The accounting policies of the parent entity are consistent with those of the Group, as disclosed in note 2, except for the 
accounting policy relating to investment in subsidiaries which are carried at cost in the parent accounts but would be applied 
at fair value for any Group accounting.
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Micro-X Limited
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2025

Note 30. Interests in subsidiaries 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in accordance 
with the accounting policy described in note 2: 

Ownership interest
Principal place of business / 2025 2024

Name Country of incorporation % %

Micro-X Incorporated USA 100% 100% 
Micro-X UK Operations Limited  United Kingdom 100% 100% 

Note 31. Events after the reporting period 

No matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2025 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect the Group's 
operations, the results of those operations, or the Group's state of affairs in future financial years. 

Note 32. Reconciliation of loss after income tax to net cash used in operating activities 

Consolidated
2025 2024
$'000 $'000

Loss after income tax expense for the year (13,895) (9,765)

Adjustments for: 
Depreciation and amortisation 2,085 1,551 
Impairment of inventory 1,452 -  
Share-based payments 1,167 1,068 
Non-cash finance costs (175) (22)

Change in operating assets and liabilities: 
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 1,118 (1,489)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (208) 1,010 
Increase/(decrease) in employee benefits 268 (111)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories (332) 1,923 
(Decrease)/increase in unearned income (71) (600)

Net cash used in operating activities (8,591) (6,435)

Note 33. Earnings per share 

Consolidated
2025 2024
$'000 $'000

Loss after income tax attributable to the owners of Micro-X Limited (13,895) (9,765)

Cents Cents

Basic earnings per share (2.28) (1.85)
Diluted earnings per share (2.28) (1.85)
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Micro-X Limited
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2025

Note 32. Reconciliation of loss after income tax to net cash used in operating activities (continued)

Number Number

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic earnings per share 610,308,632 527,175,081

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating diluted earnings per share 610,308,632 527,175,081

The weighted average number of shares does not include the potential number of ordinary shares upon take-up of rights and 
the conversion of the mandatorily convertible notes. 

The potential number of shares on conversion of the April 2018 mandatorily convertible notes which are unconverted is 
162,500 ordinary shares based on conversion prices of $0.40 (Ceiling Cap). 

The potential number of shares on conversion of performance rights is 54,249,660 which is made up of 10,889,228 vested 
performance rights on which all relevant performance criteria have been met and 43,360,432 unvested rights upon which 
require further performance criteria to be met before they become convertible.  

The potential number of options on conversion is 31,118,256 which were attached to the shares issued under the placement 
and share purchase plan. Options holders may convert at any time up until 30 May 2026. 
  
Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the loss for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Group by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.  
  
Diluted EPS is calculated by dividing the loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Group by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be 
issued on conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares. It is noted that diluted EPS cannot be 
calculated on the loss for the year and accordingly the diluted EPS equals the basic EPS. 
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Micro-X Limited 
Consolidated entity disclosure statement 
For the year ended 30 June 2025 
 

 

  

Basis of Preparation 
 
This Consolidated Entity Disclosure Statement (CEDS) has been prepared in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001. It 
includes certain information for each entity that was part of the consolidated entity at the end of the financial year. 
 
Determination of Tax Residency  
Section 295(3B)(a) of the Corporation Acts 2001 defines Australian resident as having the meaning in the Income Tax 
Assessment Act 1997. The determination of tax residency involves judgement as there are currently several different 
interpretations that could be adopted, and which could give rise to a different conclusion on residency. Section 295 (3A)(a)(vii) 
requires the determination of tax residency in a foreign jurisdiction to be based on the law of the foreign jurisdiction relating to 
foreign income tax. 
 
In determining tax residency, the consolidated entity has applied the following interpretations:  
 
Australian tax residency  
The consolidated entity has applied current legislation and judicial precedent, including having regard to the Tax 
Commissioner's public guidance in Tax Ruling TR 2018/5. 
 
Foreign tax residency  
Where necessary, the consolidated entity has used independent tax advisers in foreign jurisdictions to assist in determining 
tax residency and ensure compliance with applicable foreign tax legislation.  
 
Additional disclosures on the tax status of partnerships and trusts have been provided where relevant. 
 

Entity name 

 

Entity type 

 Place formed / 
Country of 
incorporation 

 
Ownership 
interest 

 
Australian 
Resident 

 

Tax Residency 
           
Micro-X Limited  Body Corporate  Australia      -  Yes  Australia 
Micro-X Incorporated  Body Corporate  USA  100%  No  USA 
Micro-X UK Operations  Body Corporate  United Kingdom  100%  Yes  United Kingdom 
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Micro-X Limited
Directors' declaration
For the year ended 30 June 2025

In the directors' opinion: 

the attached financial statements and notes comply with the Corporations Act 2001, the Accounting Standards, the 
Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting requirements; 

the attached financial statements and notes comply with International Financial Reporting Accounting Standards as 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board as described in note 2 to the financial statements; 

the attached financial statements and notes give a true and fair view of the Group's financial position as at 30 June 2025 
and of its performance for the Financial Year ended on that date; and 

there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due 
and payable; and 

the information disclosed in the attached consolidated entity disclosure statement is true and correct. 

The directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of directors made pursuant to section 295(5)(a) of the Corporations Act 2001. 

On behalf of the directors 

  
  
  
___________________________
Patrick O'Brien 
Non-Executive Chair 
  
28 August 2025 
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